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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	PAMELA ANDERSON, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                   Claimant,          

                                                       v.

LOWE’S CO., INC, 

                                             (Self-Insured)

                                                  Employer,          

                                                  Defendant.   
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)
	        FINAL  DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200305373
        AWCB Decision No.  09-0097
         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on May 19, 2009


On January 20, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the Claimant’s petition for temporary total disability (TTD), medical benefits, transportation costs, permanent partial impairment (PPI), interest, attorney fees and costs.  Michael Jensen, Esq. appeared on behalf of the employee (Claimant), who also appeared.  Patricia Zobel, Esq. represents the self-insured employer and adjuster (collectively, employer).  The record was held open at the conclusion of the hearing to receive and consider the deposition of Leon Chandler, MD, and the parties’ written comments pertaining to the deposition.  In the interim, the employer represented certain medical benefits were paid and were no longer an issue for the Board’s determination.  The claimant relied on the employer’s representation.  Thereafter, on April 17, 2009, the Board received an Affidavit of Service from Claimant, containing an unpaid bill from a medical provider the employer represented as having been paid.  Upon the panel’s opportunity to review these submissions, the record closed when the Board next met on April 22, 2009. 

ISSUES

1.
Is Claimant entitled to temporary total disability benefits (TTD) under AS 23.30.185, from July 2, 2007, because her lumbar spine related chronic pain condition and chronic pain-related mood disorder were not medically stable at that time?  If so, should permanent partial impairment (PPI) and .041(k) benefits paid since July 2, 2007, be reclassified as TTD under 
AS 23.30.185? 

2.
Is Claimant entitled to medical care beyond narcotic medications, disc replacement rechecks and psychiatric and counseling services, for her lumbar spine, related chronic pain, and chronic pain-related mood disorder, pursuant to AS 23.30.095?  

3.
Under AS 23.30.190, is Claimant entitled to PPI benefits for her lumbar spine condition, beyond the 22% PPI measured by Dr. Douglas Bald?

4.  
Is Claimant entitled to additional PPI benefits for her lumbar spine-related chronic pain, and her chronic pain-related mood disorder, under AS 23.30.190?

5.
Did the work injuries of April 4, 2003, and May 22, 2003, aggravate, accelerate or combine with Claimant’s preexisting degenerative cervical spine condition, and if so, was this a substantial factor contributing to her disability and need for cervical surgery? 

6.
Is interest due on late paid benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p), 8 AAC 45.142 and 
AS 09.30.070(a)?  

7.
Is Claimant entitled to attorney fees and costs pursuant to AS 23.30.145?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.    Previous Work Injury.

Claimant was employed as a kitchen design specialist at Home Depot when she sustained an injury to her lower back on June 19, 1999, while lifting a kitchen cabinet.
  She sought and received chiropractic treatment from Richard Ealum, DC, who briefly restricted her work before returning her to full duty on July 21, 1999.
  She continued to treat with Dr. Ealum, who reported continuing improvement, and “Prognosis looks excellent.”
  In December, 1999, Claimant suffered an exacerbation of her low back injury while shoveling snow.
  Dr. Ealum ordered a lumbar magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan in January, 2000.  The MRI results reflected multilevel degenerative disc disease involving the lumbar spine, a large protrusion to the left at L3-L4 with probable mass effect on the left L3 nerve root, small bulges at L2-L3 and L5-S1 centrally, and to the right at L4-L5, as well as bilateral facet arthropathy at L4-L5 and L5-S1.
   Dr. Ealum referred her to John Duddy, MD for orthopedic consult.
  In a pain drawing for Dr. Duddy, Claimant indicated an ache in her lower back extending down her left leg to the knee, and pain between her shoulders.
  She treated conservatively with Dr. Duddy, including physical therapy (PT).
  At her initial PT evaluation Claimant’s main goal was to decrease her low back pain.  She reported some neck pain as well, and occasional paresthesias of her right hand.
 Chart notes reveal her release from Dr. Duddy’s care on April 11, 2000,
 and her discharge from physical therapy on April 26, 2000.
  Claimant sought no further care for her low back or neck until the April 4, 2003, work injury which forms the basis for this action.

II.   Present Work Injury and Medical Care.

On April 4, 2003, Claimant was employed as a kitchen design specialist at Lowe’s Co., Inc., when she suffered an injury while lifting a 50 pound cabinet from waist level and  turning to the left.
  She first sought treatment on April 17, 2003, from Ben Cain, DC, at Anchorage Spinal Care Center, reporting pain in her back and neck.
  In his Narrative Report from this intake appointment, Dr. Cain noted:

Pamela Anderson, a 44-year-old kitchen cabinet designer for Lowe’s, presented to our clinic on April 17, 2003, with complaints of pain originating from a work injury that took place on April 4, 2003.  Ms. Anderson was injured when lifting cabinets on the morning of April 4, 2003.  She felt a pull in her back while lifting a 50-pound cabinet…She was lifting from chest level so her injury did not involve bending or stooping, but with turning to the left she felt a pull.  Later that afternoon she became very aware of the pain in the low back.  This pain in the low back was located primarily in the left hip and sacroiliac region and increased over the two weeks until she sought treatment at our clinic.  Subsequent to the tension and soreness in her low back she began to experience tension in the upper back and neck that had not been present before her injury.  In association with her neck symptoms, Ms. Anderson is experiencing intermittent numbness in her hands bilaterally that will increase when she lifts her hands over her head. (Emphasis added).

Dr. Cain noted Claimant’s past history of injury while similarly employed at Home Depot some years before, and her report she experienced occasional soreness in the low back since then, approximately once every three to four weeks lasting less than two to three days, but of a severity mild in comparison to the current injury, and absent any associated numbness or spasm.
  Imaging studies ordered by Dr. Cain on April 17, 2003, showed significant degenerative changes present in the cervical and lumbar spine, including marked thinning at C4-C5, C5-C6, C6-C7 and L3-L4 with associated spondylosis.
  According to Dr. Cain, the   imaging study revealed an overall decrease in cervical spine range of motion, and possible neuroforaminal encroachment contortion in the lower cervical spine.
  Dr. Cain diagnosed “sprain/strain of the lumbar spine and sacroiliac…with associated myospasm…and resulting compensatory hypertonicity myofascitis of the thoracic and cervical spine region…with bilateral cervicobrachial syndrome…and myofascitis…Complicating factors included moderate to severe degenerative changes in the cervical and lumbar spine.” (Diagnosis codes omitted).
  Dr. Cain recommended a treatment plan to include chiropractic and soft tissue manipulation to restore joint function and decrease spasm and pain, ultrasound and electrical muscle stimulation, ice, and, when her condition allowed, stretching exercises for stabilization and rehabilitation for the low back and neck.
 Claimant continued working, and began the recommended treatment with Dr. Cain at Alaska Spinal Care Center.  

Patient Progress Notes from Anchorage Spinal Care Center reflect Claimant receiving care for her cervical as well as her lumbar spine on April 17, 18, 21, 22, 25, 28 and 30, 2003.  While Dr. Cain’s handwriting is often difficult to decipher, on April 28 he notes Claimant reporting “left arm numbness,” “neck & arm pain” and pain “radiating” in the left shoulder.
   

Patient Progress Notes from Anchorage Spinal Care Center from May 5, 7, 12, 14, 19, 21, 22, 23, 27, 28, 2003, reflect continuing treatment and attention to Claimant’s cervical condition (during 10 out of 10 appointments in May), more so than to her lumbar condition (during 4 out of 10 appointments in May).  On May 5, 2003, Claimant reported continuing left rib cage soreness.  She reported she was very busy at work, and had worked 9 straight days.  Dr. Cain advised her to take breaks at work.
  On May 12, Claimant reported paresthesia in her left hand,
 and on May 21, 2003 she was still reporting neck pain.
  

While at work on May 22, 2003, Claimant was standing up and reaching upward to her right for a clipboard when she experienced severe shooting pain down her posterior right leg, causing her to leave work early.
  A lumbar MRI Dr. Cain ordered on May 23, 2003 revealed a central disc protrusion at L3-L4 and relative spinal stenosis due to bony degenerative changes present at L3-L4 and to a lesser extent at L4-L5, and central disc protrusion at the L3-4 level.
  Dr. Cain took her off work.
  

Dr. Cain’s Progress Report from May 30, 2003, notes continuing and radiating pain in her left lower limb, paresthesia in digits 2, 3 and 4 of her left foot, radiating pain in her left thigh to mid-calf region and moderate to severe pain in the left low back and sacroiliac region.  Claimant reported twice experiencing shooting pains reaching to her left foot.
  She reported neck soreness persisting, but improved mobility in the neck allowing her to turn her head while driving.  Dr. Cain noted Claimant reporting overall improvement in her neck symptoms and paresthesia symptoms in her upper limbs, but “[h]er neck soreness seems to increase while working on the computer at work.”
  Cervical compression produced soreness in the left lower-cervical region in both the left and right positions.  With left cervical compression, pain radiation was noted into the left arm.
  Dr. Cain diagnosed “Stenosis of the lumbar spine…and lumbar disc protrusion with possible myelopathy…Left lower limb sciatica.  Reactive piriformis spasm…and lumbar and sacroiliac intersegmental joint dysfunction are present…Diagnoses of cervicobrachial syndrome…and cervical intersegmental joint dysfunction…are improving.  Rule out lumbar facet syndrome.” (Diagnosis Codes omitted).
  

To assist him in diagnosing the pain radiating to Claimant’s lower extremities, Dr. Cain referred her to Edward J. Barrington, DC, for electromyography (EMG) and nerve conduction testing.
  In response to the question on Dr. Barrington’s new patient questionnaire, “Your Major Complaint(s) Today and Purpose of this Appointment,” Claimant wrote “lower back & hip pain causing pain in leg.”
  Dr. Barrington found an abnormal study showing mild left S1 radiculopathy.  He concluded the study supported the Claimant’s reported symptoms.  He felt conservative treatment remained an option, but recommended epidural injection at the left L5-S1 if Claimant reached a plateau.
  

At Dr. Barrington’s recommendation, Dr. Cain referred Claimant for a translaminar, epidural block, lumbar (L5-S1 Left), which was performed by Timothy Baldwin, MD at Alaska Spine Center on June 19, 2003.
  Dr. Cain further referred her to Trevor Tew, DC for Internal Disc Decompression Therapy (IDD) for her lumbar spine.
  At a June 30, 2003, appointment with Dr. Tew, Claimant reported no relief from the epidural injection, and constant lumbar tightening and spasm, radiating to both lower extremities.
  

Claimant continued receiving treatment for her cervical spine complaints at each of thirteen chiropractic sessions in June, 2003, and for her lumbar spine at 6 or 7 of thirteen appointments, reporting “some LBP” (low back pain) on five occasions, and leg pain on three.
  On June 25, 2003, Claimant reported to Dr. Cain her belief she was getting depressed.
  

Dr. Cain referred Claimant to AA Pain Clinic, Inc. for pain management 
  On the intake pain diagram she completed on July 10, 2003, Claimant drew a circle indicating pain around the base of the neck. She also showed pain at the axial low back area across both iliac crests, down into the left hip and anterior thigh, to just above the knee, and around to the right hip and upper thigh.
  Dr. Baldwin at AA Pain Clinic noted her Chief Complaint as “Low back pain with radiation to the left hip and to the right hip to a lesser degree and around into her anterior thigh to the knee, left greater than right.”
  On examination Dr. Baldwin noted Claimant was a good historian, had full range of motion in the cervical spine, but Spurling test positive bilaterally for left arm numbness.
 Dr. Baldwin’s diagnosis was low back pain, primarily axial with radiation around the right hip into the right thigh area, probably in the distribution of L3 and L4.  He concluded her symptoms suggested discogenic back pain.  He noted the presence of a radicular component to her disc protrusions.
  A treatment plan was discussed, beginning with selective nerve root blocks of the left L3 and L4 nerve roots.  She was given prescriptions for Oxycontin 10 mg., Norco 10/325 mg. and Skelaxin.
  On July 11, 2003, Dr. Baldwin performed a Transforaminal, Epidural Block Lumbar (L3 Left, L4 Left).
  At appointments for IDD therapy with Dr. Tew on July 14 and 16, Claimant was still reporting lumbar pain.
  On follow-up with Dr. Baldwin on July 21, 2003, Claimant reported low back pain at an 8 on a 10 point pain scale with 10 being the most pain, without pain medication, having last taken pain medication two days prior.  Dr. Baldwin believed the nerve root blocks took away Claimant’s radicular symptoms, but axial back pain and pain into the buttocks persisted. Patient reported the OxyContin helped, and she only used the Norco occasionally.
 

Dr. Cain continued to treat both Claimant’s neck and back.  His chart notes reflect treatment for her cervical spine condition on July 2, 9, 16, 23, and 30, 2003,
 and on August 6, 13, 20, 27.
 Claimant continued to report lumbar pain to Dr. Tew at IDD appointments on July 21 and July 23, who noted “very little improvement overall.”
 

On further referral from Dr. Cain for her persisting low back and leg pain, Claimant was seen by James M. Eule, MD, orthopedic surgeon, on July 24, 2003.
 New x-rays of Claimant’s lumbar spine were obtained.  Dr. Eule examined Claimant and reviewed the lumbar MRI.  He diagnosed significant degenerative disc disease at the L3-L4 level; central and foraminal stenosis at L3-L4 and L4-L5; mild to moderate degenerative disc disease at L2-L3, L4-L5, and L5-S1; and significant low back pain with radiculopathy.”
   He noted that while Claimant’s leg pain was significant, her back pain was more severe.  He disagreed with Dr. Baldwin’s plan to perform another facet block, suggesting a discogram instead, prior to possible decompression and fusion at L3-L4, and decompression at L4-L5.
  

Claimant continued to report lumbar and leg pain to Dr. Tew at IDD appointments on July 25, 28, 30, August 1, 4, 6, and 12.
  On August 13, 2003, Dr. Tew reported Claimant had “completed five weeks of treatment on the SPINA System (Internal Disc Decompression).  She has subjectively shown 20% improvement during this time period.  She continues to have low back pain and bilateral leg symptoms.  Typically, a successful treatment (4-5 weeks) on the SPINA System will produce a 75% or greater improvement in symptoms.  She has been told that she is a surgical candidate and is exploring these options.”
  Claimant did not return to Dr. Tew for further care.

Dr. Baldwin performed a discogram L2-L3, L3-L4, L4-L5, and L5-S1 on August 22, 2003.
  He concluded that although all four levels showed evidence of disruption in the capsule of the disc, the L2-L3 level was completely negative for pain; the L5-S1 level only caused pressure sensation and no concordant pain; the L3-L4 level was strongly positive with concordant pain and free rupture of the disc; and the L4-L5 level was moderately positive with concordant pain.
  A post discography computerized tomography (CT) scan of the lumbar spine, evaluated by Harold F. Cable, MD, found evidence of an annular tear at all four levels, and severe associated disc degeneration at the L3-L4 level.
 Dr. Baldwin’s chart notes from August 25, 2003, reflect Claimant taking the narcotics OxyContin 10 mg, and Norco 10/325.  He added Neurontin for breakthrough pain.

On further referral from Dr. Cain for her continuing low back pain, with thigh and calf radiation, Claimant saw Davis C. Peterson, MD, orthopedic surgeon, on September 9, 2003.
  Dr. Peterson reviewed the previous x-rays, MRI and discogram.  He recommended Dr. Baldwin perform another facet block at L5-S1 to determine if her L5-S1 joint was involved before he would schedule a decompressive and transforaminal lumbar fusion at L3-4 and L4-5.
  Dr. Peterson’s notes indicate Claimant was now taking Zoloft.
  Claimant continued treating with Dr. Cain at Anchorage Spinal Care Center for her cervical spine condition on September 3, 10, 17, 24 and October 1, 8, 15, 22, 29, 2003.
  

Claimant’s Chief Complaint when she returned to Dr. Baldwin at AA Pain Clinic on September 23, 2003, was low back and bilateral leg pain.  She reported her pain at a 10 out of 10 (10/10) on the ten point pain scale.  Dr. Baldwin scheduled another facet block at L5-S1 at Dr. Peterson’s request, and increased Claimant’s OxyContin.
  The facet block was performed on October 3, 2003.
   Claimant later reported to both Dr. Cain and Dr. Baldwin she received no pain relief from the injection.
  

A.  First Lumbar Surgery  (November 24, 2003).

On October 23, 2003, Claimant and Dr. Peterson discussed lumbar surgery.
  A pre-operative appointment followed on November 21, 2003. Dr. Peterson’s notes reflect Claimant’s L3-4 vertebrae were almost bone-on-bone.
 Dr. Peterson performed a central decompression of L3, L4 and L5 lamina with foraminotomies; and transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion at L3-L4 and L4-L5, with cages and screws, on November 24, 2003.
  Claimant was discharged on November 29, 2003, to follow-up with Dr. Peterson to check dressings, and to continue with Dr. Baldwin for pain management.
   She returned to Dr. Cain on December 3, 2003.
  

At a December 5, 2003 appointment with Dr. Baldwin at AA Pain Clinic, Claimant described her continuing low back pain as “aching, throbbing, shooting, stabbing, tender, exhausting and unbearable,” measuring 8 to 10 on the ten point pain scale.  She noted her “pain interferes with general activity, mood, walking, relations with others, enjoyment of life and sleep,” and  her “sleep totals 4 hours and is broken.”  Dr. Baldwin renewed her prescriptions for Neurontin 600 mg t.i.d.;
 Flexeril 10 mg. t.i.d; OxyContin 40 mg. q. 12 h;
 OxyContin 20 mg. q. 12 h.; and Roxicodone 15 mg. up  to 3 q.d.
  

In a follow-up appointment with Dr. Peterson on January 8, 2004, he noted a “satisfactory postoperative course.”  In response to Claimant’s reported nausea after trying to stop her narcotics, he reported probable narcotic withdrawal and suggested a tapering program.  X-rays demonstrated “stable appearing construct at L3 through L5 after decompression and fusion.”
   Dr. Peterson noted total impairment through February 8, 2004, and release to light duty on February 9, 2004, with no lifting over 5 pounds, no excessive bending or twisting, no forceful use of injured extremity and no prolonged sitting.
  Claimant was referred for physical therapy (PT), as well as for ultrasound and massage.
  Dr. Peterson extended Claimant’s total impairment until after a February 19 appointment.

Claimant appeared for therapeutic exercise at Seethaler Physical Therapy on February 3, 2004.
  Intake notes of even date show a brief history and summary of the PT plan.  The therapist noted Claimant reporting pain with sitting and standing, increased pain at the end of the day, and she was off of pain meds, but still on “flexeril: (neck).”
  The therapist also noted Claimant was experiencing “neck pain” during the physical evaluation,
 as well as “neck pain” with upright posture on February 4, 2004.
  Claimant attended further PT sessions February 6, 9 and 10.
  

Claimant was examined on February 10, 2004, by Kevin M. Leach, DC.
  The record suggests Dr. Leach was to perform the “gentle modalities” of physical therapy prescribed by Dr. Peterson.
  Dr. Leach made the following objective findings from his level one examination on February 10, 2004:

Joint dysfunction is detected plus spasm located at the middle and lower cervical regions bilaterally. Signs of muscular spasm, inflammation, and pain to palpation are evident at the left upper lumbar area.  Tender muscles are present overlying the right upper lumbar area.  The presence of pain to palpation is apparent in the left middle lumbar range.  Evidence of spastic, inflamed and tender musculatures are identified specific to the right middle lumbar area.  Muscular spasm and tenderness are noted in the left lower lumbar region.  Apparent tenderness and inflammation are located at the right lower lumbar range.  Tense and tender muscles are present overlying the sacral region bilaterally.  Spasm, edema, and pain to palpation are located specific to both sides of the pelvic range. (Emphasis added).

Dr. Leach treated Claimant’s spine with ultrasound, massage and chiropractic manipulation.  He employed an osseous adjustment to restore intersegmental/segmental joint mobility and lessen malpositions in C3, C5, and C6.
  As on Claimant’s first appointment on February 10, 2004, Dr. Leach examined Claimant’s cervical, lumbar, sacral and pelvic spine on each subsequent visit.  In addition to examination and treatment of Claimant’s lumbar symptoms, Dr. Leach noted and treated with both chiropractic adjustment and massage therapy, the continuing malposition and myospasm in Claimant’s upper, middle and lower cervical regions, bilaterally.
  Dr. Leach’s chart notes indicate frequent treatment (2-3 times per week) for Claimant’s cervical and lumbar complaints through February, March and April, 2004.
  Among her chief subjective complaints to Dr. Leach, at least as early as her February 13, 2004 appointment, and throughout this period, was neck pain.
  

At Claimant’s February 19, 2004 follow up appointment with Dr. Peterson, she was released to light duty for four-hour days through mid-April, with no lifting over 5 pounds, no repetitive lifting, no prolonged standing or walking, no excessive bending or twisting and no prolonged sitting.
  Chart notes from Dr. Peterson’s office from late February-early March, 2004, indicate confusion over what physical therapy modalities were approved by the workers’ compensation insurance adjuster.  In a note dated March 3, 2004, Dr. Peterson’s office appears to receive instruction from the adjuster that it “can prescribe L-spine therapy-not C-spine.”
  In response, Dr. Peterson’s office faxed a revised PT referral to Dr. Leach, prescribing therapeutic exercise, and “ultrasound/massage lumbar spine,” 2-3 times per week for four weeks.
  

Nineteen weeks post-surgery, on April 8, 2004, Claimant reported to Dr. Peterson discomfort across the buttocks bilaterally, particularly with prolonged sitting.  At times with sitting her whole left leg would go numb.  She reported an awareness of a sensory difference in the legs with the left being cooler than the right.
  Dr. Peterson assessed bilateral low back pain, probably from the hypermobility of the L5-S1 segment, possibly due to secondary facet synovitis L5-S1; coolness of the left leg, possibly sympathetic mediated, but with no edema, trophic changes, or visible atrophy.
  Dr. Peterson noted Claimant might benefit from another facet block, and requested a consultation with Dr. Kahn at AA Pain Clinic.
  He continued Claimant’s partial impairment release until June 30, 2004, with light duty, four hours per day, no lifting over 10 pounds, no repetitive lifting, no excessive bending or twisting and no prolonged sitting.

Claimant’s chief subjective complaints to Dr. Leach in April remained neck pain.
 On April 19 she reported neck and low back pain, stating she was experiencing radiating numbness down her left arm and leg,
 and numbness in her arm from walking.
  Claimant continued her therapy appointments with Dr. Leach, receiving treatment from him for both her lumbar and cervical spine complaints.
  On April 28 she again reported her left arm going numb “even when walking.”
 

To Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, of AA Pain Clinic, Claimant complained of left hip, left leg and left arm pain, on April 23, 2004. She reported having stopped the OxyContin and suffering withdrawal symptoms for 6 days before symptoms resolved.  She was then taking only Ibuprofen.  On April 29, Dr. Kahn performed a Left L2 Lumbar Sympathetic Ganglion Block under Fluoroscopic Guidance.
  Claimant was given new prescriptions for Norco 10/325 and Flexeril 10 mg.

Claimant continued to treat with Dr. Leach for both her lumbar and cervical spine complaints throughout May, 2004.
  Again, her chief subjective complaint was neck pain.
 On May 10, she reported to Dr. Leach her arm going numb frequently.
  On May 17, she reported to Dr. Kahn continuing pain in her lower back, left leg and hip pain, rating her pain at a 7/10 on the 10 point pain scale.
  They discussed trying a bilateral L5-S1 facet injection to see if the continuing low back pain and left leg pain could be due to persistent facet arthropathy at those sites.  She was to continue her prescribed medicines as needed, and was given a prescription for Provigil to combat the excessive fatigue and sedation she reported.  Dr. Kahn performed a Right S1 and Left S1 Facet Rhizotomy using Standard Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation under Fluoroscopic Guidance on May 27, 2004.

Claimant continued treating with Dr. Leach for her lumbar and cervical spine conditions through June, 2004.
  Her chief subjective complaint in June, 2004, continued to be neck pain and radiating sensation down her arms.
  On June 2, Dr. Leach noted “Patient’s low back pain is still bad.”  On June 4 Claimant reported the therapeutic massage around the top points of her shoulder blades made her arms go numb.

Claimant returned to AA Pain Clinic on June 15, 2004, seeing Leon H. Chandler, MD.  Physical exam revealed lumbar pain and allodynia in the left leg.  Dr. Chandler added Sonata for sleep and encouraged Claimant to resume the Neurontin she had at home.  He refilled her prescription for Norco 10/325.
  

Claimant returned to Dr. Peterson seven months post-surgery, on June 29, 2004.  Dr. Peterson noted Claimant taking Norco, Neurontin, Provigil and Sonata, and doing independent gym exercises, trunk and back, stair stepper and stationary bike, as well as some formal physical therapy.  He noted the sympathetic block at left L2 resolved the cold sensation in Claimant’s left leg, although she continued to have back stiffness and soreness in the low lumbar spine.
 He assessed likely S1 radiculitis, and would recheck in three months for final x-rays.  He renewed the prescription for PT, and continued Claimant on light duty for half days until August 30, 2004, with no lifting over 20 pounds, no repetitive lifting over 10 pounds, no excessive bending or twisting, and no forceful use of injured extremity.

Claimant continued treating with Dr. Leach for her lumbar and cervical spine pain throughout July and August, 2004.
  Again, her chief subjective complaint to Dr. Leach involved her neck.
 On July 2, Claimant reported her neck pain “is much worse.”  During her appointments with Dr. Leach from July 16 through July 30, Dr. Leach noted “she chiefly is having pain with stiffness and soreness on her right side in the upper back and neck.”  However, on August 6, Dr. Leach notes, “Pain in her LB and legs has increased drastically since Monday.  Having a hard time standing at work.”
 On August 9 and 13 Claimant reported she was primarily having a severe grade of sharp, shooting pain in her right lower back.  Her subjective reports to Dr. Leach in August were low back pain.  She reported her pain on August 13, 2004, at a 10/10.  Dr. Leach noted “her symptomatology has worsened.”  

To Dr. Kahn at AA Pain Clinic on August 11, 2004, Claimant reported constant low back pain at a 10/10 with medications.  Dr. Kahn noted Claimant reporting she was “depressed and tired.” Dr. Kahn prescribed Robaxin and Lidoderm patches for spasms, up to six Norco for breakthrough pain, Avinza and Celebrex.
  

On August 18, Claimant reported to Dr. Leach she continued “to have a lot of pain in her low back similar to the pain she had prior to her surgery…  She reports to feel better post massage and treatment. She has no relief from the medication, and has discontinued taking them….”
  She continued treating with Dr. Leach for low back and neck complaints  throughout August and September, 2004.

On August 26, 2004, nine months status post transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion L3-5,  Claimant returned to Dr. Peterson.  Dr. Peterson noted Claimant’s report of worsening back pain with pain in the left buttock and lateral thigh, and tingling or jolting electrical sensation in both legs.  He noted she was still seeing Dr. Kahn for pain management, and using Neurontin as well as narcotics.  Dr. Peterson reviewed a recent MRI of Claimant’s lumbar spine.  He assessed “left low back and buttock pain with radiation down the lateral thigh…quite severe and disabling with standing or walking.  Possibly related to her annular tear and hypintensive zone at left L5-S1 with definite subarticular stenosis at this level.”  He recommended having Dr. Kahn attempt a transforaminal epidural at left L5-S1 for diagnosis and palliation, and perhaps thereafter an intradiscal procedure at L5-S1.  He further noted, “She is still working full time at Lowe’s,”
 and took her off work for “Total impairment” from August 26-September 5, 2004.
  There are several further work releases for light duty for four hour days, from October 1, 2004 through December 1, 2004, and January 13, 2005 through March 31, 2005.

From a scout MRI, Dr. Peterson further noted a three-level cervical degeneration “with what looks like fairly significant central stenosis at L4-5 (sic, C4-5).  She is having some radicular arm pain on the left with neck flexion or rotation and probably needs a follow-up cervical MRI to evaluate this and rule out significant cord compression.”
  He ordered the follow-up cervical MRI, citing as his diagnosis “Neck pain/ numbness L arm spinal stenosis C5.”  The cervical MRI, performed the following day, August 27, 2004, revealed a large central disk protrusion compressing the cord at C4-5 with abnormal signal of the cord at that level, with small diffuse protrusion of C5-6 slightly narrowing foramina, and spondylosis C6-7 narrowing foramina.

On August 30, 2004, Dr. Kahn noted decreased range of motion in Claimant’s neck.
 The following day Dr. Kahn performed another Left L5-S1 Transforaminal Epidural Steroid Injection under Fluorscopic Guidance.
  Dr. Kahn’s notes from a September 1, 2004 appointment indicate Claimant reporting “Neck and back pain.”
  

Claimant returned to Dr. Peterson on September 9, 2004.  He noted Claimant having a “flare pain” in her left lateral thigh since the injection.  He noted previous imaging studies suggested an annular tear beneath the S1 nerve root, possible chemical radiculitis, but more likely meralgia paresthetica, and wondered whether a repeat discography would be reasonable or if Claimant was a candidate for intradiscal electrothermal therapy (IDET).
  Turning to Claimant’s neck, Dr. Peterson noted paresthesia in the left arm with neck flexion or extension.  He reported the recent cervical spine MRI showed severe degenerative changes C4 through C7 with kyphosis, and marked central stenosis at C4-5 with bright signal within the cord.  “Her AP cord dimension appears to be down to the 6 mm or 7 mm level with buckling of the posterior annulus and spondylotic ridging.  She has less stenosis at C5-6 and C6-7, but large anterior osteophytes and near autofusion at these other levels.  My impression…is severe spondylotic spinal stenosis C4-5, lesser at C5-6 and C6-7, with bright signal within the cord.”  Dr. Peterson concluded that given the signal change in the spinal cord, Claimant should strongly consider anterior cervical decompression and fusion at C4-5, probably to include C5-6 and C6-7 to hasten the arthrodesis occurring at those levels spontaneously and to limit further stenosis.  He continued:

The underlying etiology is degenerative and whether this was exacerbated or accelerated by her workers’ compensation related injury is difficult to determine.…[T]his will need to be reviewed by workers’ compensation.
  (Emphasis added).

Dr. Peterson wrote to the employer’s workers’ compensation adjuster the same day:

In the course of her workup Ms. Anderson was identified as having severe cervical spinal stenosis at C4-5 with bright signal change in the cord and evidence of paresthesia in the arm with flexion and extension, suggesting cord impingement.  Her pathology is certainly severe enough to warrant decompression and stabilization at least at this level probably to include C4-5 and C6-7 since they are also quite degenerative.

The question is whether or not the cervical spine is covered under her workers’ compensation claim or if this would need to be dealt with through private insurance.  Let us know as soon as possible so we can proceed with treatment.

Claimant also returned to Dr. Kahn on September 9, 2004, reporting her left leg pain had returned full force after three days of partial relief following injection.  She described her pain as “burning, aching, shooting…overall pain is worsening.”  Dr. Kahn noted her acute appearance as one of pain and depression. Claimant reported she was suffering depression. Dr. Kahn’s diagnostic impression was postlaminectomy syndrome, back disorder and radiculitis.  Two more steroidal injections, a discography at L5-S1, and perhaps IDET depending on discography, were planned.
 

Dr. Kahn performed another epidural steroid injection, at the left L5 nerve root, on September 23, 2004.
  On follow-up with Dr. Kahn on October 8, 2004, Claimant reported her left leg feeling better, but having right leg pain.  She reported the pain beginning 4 days after the left L5 nerve root injection; it hurt to walk, sit and stand.  Claimant reported increasing coldness in both lower extremities, numbness in her arms, anxiety and depression.  Dr. Kahn again noted an acute appearance of pain.  Dr. Kahn’s diagnostic impression was “Failed back surgery syndrome, lumbar radiculopathy.”
 On October 12, 2004, Dr. Kahn performed another transforaminal epidural steroid injection, this time of the right L5 nerve root.

Claimant continued treating with Dr. Leach for lower back and neck complaints throughout October and November, 2004.
  

On November 5, 2004, Dr. Peterson sought approval from the adjuster for a discogram with possible IDET of the lumbar spine.
  On November 11, 2004, apparently in response to adjuster request, Dr. Peterson wrote:
I have reviewed my own records and records on referral from Ben Cain, DC, and James Eule, MD, as well as procedure notes by Timothy Baldwin, MD.  Based upon clinical and radiographic findings as well as electromyograms and discography, in conjunction with imaging studies, my formulation of Ms. Anderson’s diagnosis is degenerative disc disease from L3 to L5 with a history of intermittent self-limited back pain up until a lifting injury on April 4, 2003.  This resulted in progressive disabling back pain correlating with degeneration and annular tears at L3-4 and L4-5 producing a radicular upper lumbar pain pattern and eventually requiring decompression and stabilization with interbody and posterior lateral fusion.

Although she appeared to have degenerative disc changes that would predate the date of injury, symptomatic episodes up to that time had been quite self-limited.  Since that injury, pain and disability were continuous and worsening, leading to the supposition that this injury was a significant factor contributing to her clinical deterioration and eventual need for surgery, I believe on a more probable than not standard…

With regards to her cervical spine, Ms. Anderson obviously shows multisegment degeneration at C4 through C7 with severe stenosis, sufficient to result in findings of myelopathy.  These are chronic and progressive and her injuries, although probably exacerbating, were not causative.  In the absence of these injuries, given the severity of her cervical degenerative changes, I suspect she would have eventually gone on to require decompression and stabilization.  Her lumbar spine continues to be symptomatic probably from facet degeneration at the remaining L5-S1 mobile segment.  She is undergoing diagnostic blocks, probable medial branch rhizotomies and will likely require some ongoing pain management interventions.  (Emphasis added).

If she could be adequately controlled with medications and limited interventions, I would then consider her medically stable and ratable.  She will have a permanent partial impairment referable to her lumbar spine…

The patient’s current level of disability is such that she has difficulty with any protracted standing, walking or sitting and, at this point, is suitable only for part-time and very light duty requiring minimal lifting and frequent changes of position as tolerated.  Also, she still requires pain medication.  I would not yet commit to a long-term physical capacities evaluation until a pain management evaluation has been completed.

On December 2, 2004, Dr. Kahn performed a lumbar discography injection at L2-3, L5-S1, noting lumbar pain, lumbar radiulopathy and “Failed back surgery syndrome.”
  Following injection, Claimant underwent a CT scan where continguous section views were obtained from the thoracic to lumbosacral junction.  Reviewing the discograms at L2 and L5, Harold F. Cable, MD, noted evidence of large annular tears.
 An office visit note from December 7, 2004, indicated Claimant was scheduled to meet with Dr. Peterson for evaluation of further surgery due to torn annuli at L2 and L5.

Claimant continued her treatment with Dr. Leach for both her cervical and lumbar spine conditions during December, 2004, January, 2005 and February 2005, often reporting her lumbar pain at an 8-10 out of 10.
 She continued to treat at AA Pain Clinic for pain management. Claimant’s failed back surgery and continuing lumbar pain caused Dr. Peterson, in consultation with Drs. Kahn and Chandler of AA Pain Clinic, to refer her to Rick B. Delamarter, MD, of The Spine Institute at St. John’s Health Center, in Santa Monica, California, for evaluation and consideration of interbody fusion versus disc replacement.
  Dr. Peterson wrote:

Ms. Anderson is a 45-year old female patient of mine with a history of multi-level lumbar degeneration and stenosis.  On November 3, 2004 she underwent a segmental fusion at L3 through L5 instrumented with decompression to relieve radicular leg pain and claudicating symptoms.  She has gone on to develop significant low lumbar pain felt on discography to be referrable to the L5-S1 level.  She is not felt to be a reasonable candidate for intradiscal procedures by her pain specialist due to the degree of degeneration present.  The options at this point include consideration of interbody fusion versus disc replacement.  I would appreciate your input in this case as to whether disc replacement may be a reasonable option in this lady to try to preserve some lumbosacral spine motion.

At a January 31, 2005, appointment with Dr. Chandler, Claimant’s chief complaints were “lower back pain; neck pain.”  Dr. Chandler noted his intent to change Claimant from oral narcotics to a longer-acting Dilaudid when it became available.  Factors alleviating Claimant’s pain were noted as massage and pain medication.
  Activities exacerbating her pain were reported as physical activity, movement, sitting, standing, driving, sneezing and coughing.  Claimant’s then current medications were noted as Avinza 30 mg. 1 bid;
 Celebrex 200 mg bid;  Neurontin 300 mg. 2 qhs;
 Robaxin-750, 750 mg. 1 TAB Q6H
 30 days; Roxicodone 5 mg 1 5xd 30 days.  Pain medications taken in the last 24 hours of the office visit were noted as Avinza, Celebrex, Neurontin, Robaxin, and Oxycodone.
  

On February 11, 2005, Dr. Peterson informed the adjuster the Claimant would need retraining:

Ms. Anderson is status post L3 to L5 decompression and posterior lateral fusion as well as interbody fusions with ongoing back pain referable to her L5-S1 level.  She is scheduled to be evaluated in Santa Monica, California, by Dr. Rick Delamarter for disc replacement options at L5-S1.

Over the long-term, I do not believe she will be able to return to work that requires prolonged sitting or standing, possibly not even a full-time schedule.  She would be best suited for jobs in which she can change positions frequently.  She should avoid stooping, bending, twisting, and climbing.  Her current job position at Lowe’s requires her to move objects which exceed 200 pounds and she is required to lift items which weigh up to 50 pounds without assistance as well as pushing, pulling, climbing, balancing, crouching, etc.  These job requirements will not be within her physical capabilities and, therefore, she will require vocational screening and rehabilitation.

Claimant continued to treat with Dr. Leach for her cervical and lumbar spine complaints in March, 2005,
 and with AA Pain Clinic for pain management.
  

She was seen by Dr. Delamarter, Medical Director of The Spine Institute at Saint John’s Health Center, and Associate Clinical Professor, Orthopaedic Surgery, UCLA School of Medicine, on March 16, 2005.  Upon physical examination and review of her medical records, Dr. Delamarter noted Claimant as status post L3 through L5 posterior spinal fusion, with evidence of degenerative disc disease at the L2-L3 and L5-S1 levels, as well as positive discogram at L5-S1, and to a lesser extent at L2-L3.  He determined Claimant was an “excellent” candidate for an artificial disc replacement at the L2-L3 and L5-S1 levels, however compassionate use approval would first have to be obtained from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

In April, May, June, July and August, 2005, Claimant continued to treat with Dr. Leach for her cervical
 and lumbar conditions, and with AA Pain Clinic.  At her April 1, 2005 appointment at AA Pain Clinic, she reported her highest pain levels over the past month at 8/10.  Her lowest, with pain medication, was 6/10.
  She requested a reduction in the prescribed oxycodone, and that her Avinza be replaced with Palladone. Prescriptions provided on April 1, 2005, included Roxicodone 5 mg., Palladone 12 mg., Neurontin 300 mg., Celebrex 200 mg., and Avinza 30 mg.  She reported being “stressed and worried.”
  On April 29, she was reporting back pain, neck pain and bilateral leg pain.
  

On May 3, 2005, Claimant was found eligible for reemployment benefits under 
AS 23.30.041(k).
 A reemployment plan was developed where Claimant would obtain a two year vocational degree from the University of Alaska, Anchorage, to become a Drafter.

On June 13, 2005, Claimant was seen by Holm W. Neumann, MD, for the first of two employer medical evaluations (EME).  Dr. Neumann diagnosed “degenerative disc and degenerative joint disease of the cervical, lumbar, and thoracic spine at multiple levels, preexisting” the April 4, 2003, work injury, and “Sprain/strain injury to her cervical and thoracolumbar spine secondary to the incident of April 4, 2003.”
 He concluded the sprain/strain injuries were the result of the work injury, but concluded “In regards to the degenerative disc and degenerative joint disease, her incident of April 4, 2003, did not cause these conditions, as they were preexisting.”
  Dr. Neumann opined Claimant had recovered from the sprain/strain injuries to her cervical, thoracic and lumbar spine, but was continuing to show degeneration and deterioration in all three spinal regions.
  He noted cervical surgery would be reasonable and necessary if repeat MRI studies showed a progressive myelopathy, artificial disc replacement surgery was a reasonable option for Claimant’s lumbar spine condition, narcotic medications should be avoided, steroid injections and nerve blocks had proven ineffective, physical therapy might be appropriate, but chiropractic treatment was not”
  He concluded Claimant was not medically stable.
  Claimant entered a Smallwood objection
 to admission of Dr. Neumann’s report.
  
Claimant was continuing to report low back pain, hip pain, left leg pain and neck pain at her pain appointment at AA Pain Clinic on July 7, 2005.
 She was approved for disc replacement surgery sometime prior to July 13, 2005.
  In August, Claimant sought and AA Pain Clinic ordered another lumbar epidural to provide her with some pain relief prior to the disc replacement surgery scheduled for August 30, 2005, in California.  A chart note indicates Claimant reporting increased pain because the Palladone she had been taking for pain was pulled off the market.
  Another lumbar steroid injection was performed on August 17.  Dr. Chandler reported to Dr. Delamarter the procedure went well and was expected to reduce the inflammation to enable Claimant to travel to California for the disc replacement surgery scheduled later in the month.

B.  Second Lumbar Surgery (August 30, 2005).

On August 30, 2005, Dr. Delamarter performed an anterior discectomy, L2-3, L5-S1; partial corpectomy, L2-3, L5-S1, and placement of intervertebral artificial disc implants.
  Claimant was managed for pain, and discharged after four days’ hospitalization.  She remained in an area hotel for two weeks for follow-up, cared for by an adult daughter, and with home health services.

On October 10, 2005, at her six week post-surgical follow-up with Dr. Delamarter, Claimant reported anxiety and depression.
 She was still taking Avinza, Neurontin, Celebrex and Oxycodone for pain, and Robaxin for spasm.
  She returned to Dr. Leach on November 3, 2005, with a prescription for leg massage.
 Dr. Leach’s chart notes for November reflect continuing lumbar and leg pain. In November, Dr. Chandler noted Claimant still having pain in both lower extremities with exercise because of her increase in height from the disc replacement surgery.  He added Lyrica to her prescriptions in an effort to diminish the neuropathic pain in her lower extremities.
  On December 1, 2005, Dr. Chandler added the anti-depressant Lexapro to her prescription medicines.
  

Three months post-disc replacement surgery, on December 7, 2005, Claimant returned to California to see Dr. Delamarter. Clinic staff at St. John’s Health Center noted “hyperactive L leg; cold feet; bilateral anhidrosis of L leg since October; ongoing burning L buttock shooting down L leg, not worse than preop.  Ongoing neck & shoulder pain not worse than preop. Patient in pain with little bending.”  Prescription medicines Claimant was then taking included Avinza, Celebrex and Oxycodone for pain, Neurontin and Robaxin for spasm, and Lexapro for depression.
 Dr. Delamarter noted continuing left perilumbosacral and buttock pain complaints.  He recommended additional left-sided facet injections, perhaps facet rhizotomies at the L5-S1.  “She may be having peri-instrumentational pain and may need a hardware removal from L3 through L5.”
  He noted she remained temporarily totally disabled until her next appointment on February 1, 2006.   

At Dr. Delamarter’s recommendation, another left L5-S1 facet block was performed on January 4, 2006.
  Dr. Chandler noted Claimant’s continuing back pain may be caused by a screw at the L5-S1 level from her first surgery, which may require removal.
 On January 27, 2006, Claimant reported to Dr. Leach, “entire body hurts, esp. R hip…when walking & neck sore.”
 At a February 6, 2006 appointment with Dr. Chandler, Claimant’s complaints remained low back pain, bilateral leg pain, and neck pain.
 

C.   Third Lumbar Surgery (February 9, 2006).
In another effort to control Claimant’s back pain, Dr. Delamarter on February 9, 2006, removed the segmental hardware installed during Claimant’s L3-L5 fusions.
  Dr. Delamarter noted:

The patient is six months out from the L2-L3 and L5-S1 artificial disc.  The upper one is doing well, the bottom one she has facet pain at L5-S1.  The facet injection gave her around four days of relief, but it appears that the hardware from her prior L3 to L5 fusion is irritating that facet.  Thus, she is scheduled for the hardware removal tomorrow, and hopefully this settles things down.  Ultimately she may need a fusion of this L5-S1 facet.

The surgical pathology report indicates the following spinal fixation apparatus were removed:  6 pedicle screws approximately 5.5 cm in length; 6 brass clamps measuring approximately 2 cm in greatest dimension each; 1 brass bar clamp approximately 5 cm in length; 2 bent brass colored metal rods approximately 8 cm in greatest dimension each; 8 brass bushings 0.6 cm in greatest dimension; fragments of metal showing scratching and gouging; and a single 1.2 cm brass washer.
  Eight days post hardware removal Claimant was still reporting pain, without notable change from her preoperative condition.

At an April 10, 2006 appointment at AA Pain Clinic, Claimant reported continuing pain, exacerbated by stress, sitting, standing, bending, cold, damp, weather changes and coughing.  She described her pain as cramping, burning, sharp, penetrating, stabbing, shooting, and miserable.  Claimant’s Avinza and MSIR (added by Dr. Delamarter) were increased.  Lyrica, Robaxin and Celebrex were continued, and Neurontin was discontinued.

Claimant followed up with Dr. Delamarter for her second post-operative evaluation in April, 2006, reporting pain radiating down both legs.  Dr. Delamarter noted continuing back spasms, and continued her as temporarily totally disabled until her next appointment on August 16, 2006.
 

D.  Psychiatric Care Begins.  (April 19, 2006).

On referral from Dr. Chandler for anxiety and depression, Claimant saw Ramzi Nassar, MD,  on April 19, 2006, at Providence Behavioral Health Group (PBHG)(formerly Langdon Clinic).
  Dr. Nassar noted Claimant was motivated and wanted to return to work, but was extremely frustrated by her pain syndrome as well as by her lack of functioning.  He diagnosed “Mood Disorder Due to General Medical Condition,” doubled to 20 mg her dosage of the anti-depressant Lexapro, prescribed Seroquel for sleep, mood lability and nightmares, and referred her for counseling to Lila Berry, LCSW, who she first saw on June 13, 2006.
  Claimant continued to see Dr. Nassar and Ms. Berry throughout 2006 for her chronic pain-related anxiety and depression.
 Ms. Berry reported “depression, anxiety regarding…health;”
 “needing to lay down [due to] back and neck pain;”
 “overwhelmed…physical pain…anxiety [related to] pain issues…depression [related to] medical condition;”
 “mood [disorder due to] a medical condition;”
 “Patient presented in physical pain…physical & emotional issues re Pt. illness…Is attempting to get well, but faces physical obstacles…work on mood issues related to illness;”
 “Patient presented feeling frustrated [related to] pain;”
 “Patient presented [with increased] physical pain…leg pain, back pain…Continued effort to make school/career issues work for her w/ significant obstacles [related to] physical pain.”
 

Throughout 2006, Claimant continued to treat monthly with AA Pain Clinic for pain management.
  In June she reported experiencing a loss of bladder control over the last few weeks, constant pain with her highest level an 8/10, and her least amount of pain at 4/10.  She reported pain increasing with stress, overexertion, sitting, standing, bending, weather changes, bowel movements and coughing.  Ameliorating pain were pain medication, light exercise, elevating her feet and massage.  She described her pain as cramping, burning, sharp, aching, penetrating, throbbing, shooting, tiring and miserable.  She was continued on Seroquel, Robaxin, MSIR, Lyrica, Lexapro, Celebrex and Avinza
  Dr. Childs referred her for chiropractic treatment for hip pain.
  

Claimant returned for chiropractic care to Dr. Leach on August 3, 2006, reporting hip pain primarily, but with continuing complaints of pain in her neck and shoulders as well as her low back.  She continued her care with Dr. Leach throughout 2006, reporting and receiving care for her low back, neck and right hip.
  

At a follow up visit on August 16, 2006, Dr. Delamarter noted her lumbar discs at L2-L3 and L5-S1 looked good, but Claimant was reporting increasing right buttock and right radiating leg pain.  Noting Claimant’s complaints of neck pain and right arm numbness and tingling, Dr. Delamarter ordered a cervical MRI, which revealed severe stenosis with kyphotic deformity at C4-C5, and moderate disc protrusions at C5-C6 and C6-C7.  He noted his belief Claimant will need anterior discectomy and fusion at at least one, maybe three, cervical levels.
  

E.  Recommendation for Cervical Surgery and Continuing Medical Treatment.

On September 12, 2006, Dr. Delamarter wrote: 

Pamela Anderson is a patient of mine who has both lumbar and cervical problems.  This is due to a work related situation.  Her original complaints on my original consultation of 03/16/05 clearly showed that there was both low back and leg pain as well as neck, arm and hand pain.  At the time, the severity of the low back caused us to address that issue and thus she underwent the treatment and surgery of her low back.  Although she has had some relief with this, she now has come to require surgical intervention and thus a CT myelogram is warranted to investigate this and due to the kyphotic deformity cord compression degenerative disc disease she most likely will need cervical surgery as well.  Clearly, both the cervical and lumbar are related to a work related injury and should be handled as such.
 (Emphasis added).

At a September 29, 2006 office visit Dr. Chandler noted Claimant’s continuing complaints of neck pain, and her report the Workers’ Compensation insurer was denying treatment for her neck.
 

On October 9, 2006, both lumbar and cervical spine myelograms with CT scans were conducted.  At the C4-5 level, the cervical scan revealed a loose fragment appearing to indent the ventral aspect of the cord, moderate to severe bilateral foraminal stenosis and degenerative changes at the uncovertebral joints; at C5-6 it reflected severe left foraminal stenosis and moderate right foraminal stenosis with mild central spinal stenosis secondary to osteophytic degenerative change; at C6-7 it showed severe bilateral foraminal stenosis and mild central spinal stenosis.  No bulges or protrusions were seen.  “The cord is instrinsically normal.”  No lytic or blastic lesions were seen, nor any paravertebral soft tissue abnormalities.

Dr. Delamarter’s chart notes of November 14, 2006, state:

I spoke with Pam.  She is having a lot of neck issues, numbness and tingling into her hands, some loss of coordination of the hands, also her right groin, front of her leg when she steps on this, having issues as well.  I have the new CT scan myelogram.  In the cervical spine she has got quite significant spondylosis, disc protrusion, some calcification of the posterior longitudinal ligament giving fairly significant narrowing at C4-C5, C5-C6 and C6-C7 with foraminal narrowing as well. With her progressive neurologics, numbness, tingling and early myelopathy, I do think an anterior discectomy and fusion of the cervical spine would be wise from C4 to C7…

On review of all her medical records, clearly this was related to her original work injury of 04/04/03.  It was in the original complaints and has been somewhat overshadowed with the extensive lumbar condition status post surgeries, etc., but there is no doubt that her cervical issues should be covered through the Workmen’s compensation situation as it was very much involved with the work-related injury of 04/04/03.

Regarding her low back, we will sit and follow this at this point.  I would want further workup of her pelvis and hips, but the right leg issues may be related in some part to her neck and may get hopefully some improvement with the appropriate neck surgical intervention…
 (Emphasis added).

Claimant continued to see Dr. Chandler for pain management.  At her visit on October 29, 2006, her chief complaints were low back pain, leg pain, and neck pain, as well as problems with incontinence.  On December 7, 2006, she reported her pain as “constant.”
 

In chart notes from February 13, 2007, Dr. Chandler continued to note Claimant’s low back pain, right leg pain, and bilateral upper arm pain, and a plan to conduct radiofrequency lesioning of the L5-S1 level as soon as possible.  He further noted right hip degenerative joint disease “noted by Dr. Delamarter,” which is confirmed by a February 7, 2007 chart note from Dr. Delamarter: 

Pamela has significant hip arthritis.  She is going to seek a consultation for this.   Her neck is her primary concern with the early myelopathy into her hands and arms.  She needs a three-level anterior discectomy and fusion, which we have gone over in the past.  We will try to get this scheduled as she is having some progressive neurologics.

Dr. Delamarter completed a “Surgery Request” to perform a C4-7 anterior discectomy and fusions, on February 15, 2007.

On February 28, 2007, Dr. Chandler performed a Right L4, Left L4, Right L5 and Left L5 Facet Rhizotomy using Standard Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation under Fluoscopic guidance.
  He later noted this gave Claimant pain relief for approximately 4 days, after which the pain returned completely.

On referral from Dr. Chandler for her right hip complaints, Claimant saw Timothy Kavanagh, MD, on March 8, 2007, for evaluation of her hip.  She reported onset of hip symptoms in July, 2006, difficulty with stairs, decreased activity level because of pain, and pain different from her lumbar pain.  Dr. Kavanagh noted Claimant was then taking MS Contin and Lyrica for chronic back pain, and her comment that currently her hip pain was bothering her more than her back.  By x-ray and physical examination, Dr. Kavanagh diagnosed end stage arthritis, right hip, with bone on bone articulation, subchondral sclerosis and osteophyte formation.  Surgery was discussed.

On April 13, 2007, Dr. Chandler noted Claimant’s main problem was neck pain, although overall she continued to have significant problems in her low back, right hip, bilateral leg pain and cervical area.  Her medications at that time included Zanaflex, MSIR, Lyrica, Celebrex and Avinza.
  Dr. Chandler reported “Overall, the patient continues to have significant problems in her low back…continues with axial back pain due to nerve rood (sic, root) stretch from the disc replacements.”
  On April 22, 2007, a chart note from Dr. Chandler reflects the content of a telephone conversation with Dr. Delamarter, who suggested Claimant may need removal of the L5-S1 artificial disc and a fusion done at that level in order to control her low back pain.
 AA Pain Clinic chart notes reflect “The patient has significant sleep problems…Sleep is chronically deprived.”

Claimant continued treating with Dr. Leach during January, February, March, April, and into May, 2007, continuing to report pain in her low back, neck and right hip.
  No further medical records from Dr. Leach’s office, beyond May 4, 2007, were provided.  It appears Claimant’s treatment with Dr. Leach ceased thereafter.

Dr. Kavanagh performed a right total hip replacement on May 7, 2007.
  On June 21, 2007, Dr. Kavanagh, responding to an inquiry from Claimant’s counsel, opined that neither Claimant’s April 4 nor May 22, 2003 work injuries were a substantial factor in aggravating, accelerating or making more symptomatic any preexisting right hip condition thereby necessitating treatment.
 It was his opinion that regardless of her injuries at work and her three lumbar surgeries, it was “highly likely,” she would have undergone hip replacement at the point in time that she did.  He noted her right hip condition required ongoing follow-up, including x-rays and clinical examination at six and twelve months post-operatively.  He opined her right hip condition would reach medical stability six months postoperatively, and she would suffer no permanent partial impairment.
 Claimant has not filed a Worker’s Compensation Claim (WCC) concerning her hip. 

Throughout this period, Claimant continued to treat with Dr. Nassar and Lila Berry for her chronic pain related mood disorder.  Dr. Nassar continued to  prescribe anti-depressants and sleep aids.
  In a letter dated July 2, 2007, Dr. Nassar wrote Claimant had suffered a recent setback in her depressive symptoms associated with her chronic pain, and he was adjusting her medications to address the setback.
  

Ms. Berry’s chart notes reflect: “Patient presented in pain…Putting her best foot forward to go to school but struggling w/ physical pain, tiredness, poor concentration…and worried that she does not have the health to complete courses/ get a job.  Clearly wants to succeed.  Becomes genuinely very tearful about losses in life [due to] losing her career [due to] injuries, & stressors of multiple surgeries & poor health;”
 “Patient presented in pain, tired; more tired looking than usual…[increase] in pain & depression since attending school;”
 “Patient presented stating her pain level is up; continues to be in pain…struggling in school [due to] pain issues & lack of energy in overall day to day since accident;”
 “Observation:  In pain, tired, pessimistic about recovery-wishes she could work out, but too much pain.  Has a difficult time w/ concentration;”
 “Patient presented in pain…Described numbness in legs…Is taking 2 incompletes, recommended pt. time school vs. full time [due to] health issues, mental/emotional exhaustion;”
 “Observation:  Tired, in pain…Assessment:  Reduce depression [related to] health issues;”
 “Chief Complaint:  depression, pain…Back pain has flared up…Observation: Tearful, depressed…Has been staying in bed, feeling depressed.  Has not been attending to her ADL’s [activities of daily living]-this is not typical behavior.  Does not have the stamina to attend school full-time; pattern of attempting, getting ill & depressed;”
 “Mood [disorder] due to medical condition. Has been depressed-has been staying in bed a lot.  For the first time in her life, has let her home become messy because she has been feeling depressed.  Observation:  Depressed.  Tearful.”
 “Pain in lower back is worse; Has registered for school & is taking 2 courses, which is all she can take…Is worried about health issues & endurance in class;”
 “Has been staying in bed a lot, she thinks [due to] the depression…Observation:  Tearful…nervous about outcome of illness…States she did not have neck pain prior to injuries at work.  Continues to be depressed [due to] medical issues…Primary Diagnosis:  293.83 Mood disorder d/t general medical condition;”
 “Chief Complaint:  physical pain, mood issues [related to] this.  Is experiencing constant [increasing] pain in back…Is not sleeping.  Mood is down due to health issues.  Exhausted from sleeping only 4-5 hours per night.  Frustrated by multiple doctors appointments, and continued pain in back and neck.  Has to lie down due to pain…is taking x2 as much meds since she has been denied PT & acupuncture;”
 Clinic notes continue to indicate “mood disorder due to medical condition, depression.”

F.  Douglas Bald, MD, Employer Medical Evaluation (June 9, 2007).

At Employer’s request, Claimant appeared for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME) with Douglas Bald, MD, Orthopedic Surgeon, on June 9, 2007.  Dr. Bald prepared a written report in which he described the medical records he reviewed and his findings on physical evaluation.  The last medical record provided to Dr. Bald is dated February 7, 2007.
  He reached the following conclusions:

In my opinion based upon medical probability, Ms. Anderson incurred an injury to her lower back on the job as a result of the work-related injury event in question of April 4, 2003.  This injury-related event was superimposed upon severe lower lumbar multilevel degenerative disk disease.  In my opinion, the work injury event of April 4, 2003, did result in a symptomatic aggravation of her preexisting degenerative disk disease which has resulted in extensive medical treatment related to her lumbar spine…the medical treatment that has been provided directed towards the claimant’s low back area has been reasonable and appropriate in nature.  It is also apparent that Ms. Anderson, as it relates to her low back condition, has reached a point of medical stability…No further medical treatment …is felt to be appropriate other than a very light-resistance, low-back-specific stretching and strengthening exercise program.

It is also apparent that the Claimant did develop some symptoms acutely on a secondary basis related to her cervical spine as a result of the injury event of April 4, 2003, though it is also apparent that this injury event was superimposed upon severe degenerative spondylosis, multilevel in nature, of the cervical spine.  While I would agree…that the work injury event was a significant factor in Ms. Anderson’s early symptoms related to her cervical spine, in my opinion the work injury event of April 4, 2003, is clearly not a significant contributing factor to her preexisting degenerative spondylosis.  It is also apparent that her symptoms in the cervical area related to the injury event, on a subacute basis, resolved relatively quickly and that her symptoms in the cervical area have redeveloped more recently as a direct result and consequence exclusively of her multilevel degenerative spondylosis.  While I do agree that further treatment is felt to be reasonable directed towards her cervical spine, in my opinion the work injury event of April 4, 2003, is not a significant factor in her need for treatment directed towards her cervical spine.

In my opinion…the work injury event of April 4, 2003, is not a significant or substantial factor in her current or recent need for medical treatment related to either her cervical spine or her right hip.  These are unrelated conditions that were not affected by or aggravated by the work injury event in question…

I do feel…the proposed treatment directed toward her cervical spine is reasonable and appropriate for her diagnosed condition of severe degenerative spondylosis…

At this point in time…no further medical treatment is felt to be reasonable or necessary directed towards the Claimant’s lumbar spine.  I do think it is reasonable to consider continuation of narcotic medications for treatment of her chronic pain complaints.  Further steroid injections, nerve root blocks, physical therapy, or chiropractic treatment are certainly not indicated…

As it relates to her lumbar spine, in my opinion the Claimant is clearly medically stable and stationary at this time and does not require further medical treatment, nor is further treatment being considered directed towards her lumbar spine.
 (Emphasis added).

Dr. Bald noted Claimant was then taking “significant medications including Avinza (long-acting morphine derivative) 90 milligrams twice a day; morphine sulfate 30 milligrams as needed for breakthrough pain; Celebrex 200 milligrams twice a day; Zanaflex twice a day; and Lyrica 75 milligrams twice a day.  She is also on other medications including Lexapro once daily, buspirone twice a day, and Lunesta at night to help her sleep.”

Dr. Bald was also asked to calculate a whole person permanent impairment if any, under the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition.  Using the range of motion method, Dr. Bald concluded:

Ms. Anderson will indeed have permanent impairment that is attributable to her low back injury and subsequent surgeries…There is 5% impairment of the whole person for loss of range of motion in flexion. There is no permanent impairment for loss of range of motion in extension. There is 1% impairment for loss of range of motion in right lateral bending. There is no permanent impairment for loss of range of motion in left lateral bending….her total combined permanent impairment, in my opinion, equals 22% impairment of the whole person that is felt to be attributable to the work injury event in question.

G.  Dr. Barrington’s PPI Evaluation (August 6, 2007).

On referral from Dr. Chandler, Claimant was seen by Edward J. Barrington, DC/DABCN, a Board Certified Chiropractic Neurologist, for a permanent partial impairment rating confined exclusively to her lower back pathology, and specifically excluding her hip replacement, and cervical and upper extremity symptoms.
  Using the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition, and applying the Range of Motion Method due to the multi-level involvement of Claimant’s lumbar condition, and measuring with dual inclinometers, Dr. Barrington found Claimant suffered a 20% impairment of the whole person for loss of lumbar range of motion, and 17% whole person impairment for multiple back surgeries.  Using the Combined Values Chart at page 604 of the Guides, Dr. Barrington concluded Claimant’s lumbar conditions resulted in a 34% whole person permanent impairment.
 Employer filed a Smallwood objection to admission of Dr. Barrington’s report.
  
H.  Continuing Medical Treatment.

On referral from Drs. Peterson and Childs, Claimant underwent a Sleep Study on October 30, 2007.  The study revealed Claimant suffered obstructive sleep apnea, and “insomnia due to medical condition (i.e. chronic pain).”
 Buff Burtis Jr., MD, and Dr. Childs recommended use of a CPAP
 machine, and return to the sleep laboratory for a repeat polysomnogram with a full night of CPAP titration.

Claimant returned to Dr. Delamarter’s clinic two and a half years post disc replacement at L2-3/L5-S1, and two years following the posterior hardware removal at L3-5, in February, 2008.  She continued to report pain at a 6/10 in her low back, with bilateral anterior thigh pain, unchanged over the last several months.
 

Throughout 2008 Claimant continued to treat with the providers at AA Pain Clinic for her chronic lumbar and neck pain.
 At her six months medication review Claimant’s chief complaints were low back pain, bilateral leg pain, arm and neck pain.  She was given a Medrol pack to treat her axial back pain and lumbar radiculopathy, and was continued on prescriptions for Zanaflex, MSIR, Lyrica, Celebrex and Avinza.
 

She continued treating with Dr. Nassar and Lila Berry for Mood Disorder Due to General Medical Condition throughout 2008: “Chief Complaint:  health issues & depression.  Is in a lot of physical pain...Mood is down.  Affect is a little flat…Had to drop the class d/t [due to] health issues & she is depressed by it.  Wanted to complete classes, but due to health issues is not able to do it.  Pain is up in body d/t health issues;”
 “Mood down-Affect down.  Health continues to deteriorate…Takes 7 pills to manage pain and depression, sleep issues…Is getting to where she cannot sit or stand for more than 15 minutes.  Having a great deal of difficulty functioning w/ the pain meds, but cannot function w/o meds d/t pain level;”
 “Mood-irritated-down.  Affect-a little down…Observation: Continues to plug away taking courses, which shows the endurance patient has to attempt to get her degree, in spite of medical issues & depression. Assessment:  Is struggling to keep up in school, but has resilience to continue.  Depression/stress is apparent.  Continues to have [increasing] body pain and neck pain.”
 “In a lot of physical pain, & this is affecting mood.  Ongoing issue of pain & mood issues-depression…;”
 “Is afraid she is not going to work after school d/t feeling so poorly/neck pain, back pain, chronically tired…Continued neck pain, back pain & depression related to health issues…pain & mental health issues continue r/t losses since the accident;
 “Chief Complaint:  physical pain/depression. Feeling poorly, depressed r/t health issues and pain in neck…Depression r/t continued health issues/ lack of feeling in her hands. Scared about this.  Depressed about issues related to health overall;”
 “Continues to feel poorly physically.  Is struggling w/ mood issues r/t this;”
 “Has been in a lot of pain.  Dr. [Kralick] is getting her in for surgery immediately, as he states that if she was in a car accident, she could be paralyzed for life.”
 

I.   Fred Blackwell, MD, Second Independent Medical Evaluation (February 22, 2008).

On referral by the Board, Claimant appeared for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) under AS 23.30.095(k), conducted by Fred Blackwell, MD, orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Blackwell prepared a written report following his interview and physical examination of Claimant, and his review of the two volume SIME binder of medical records.
  The latest medical record provided for his review was dated October 19, 2007.
  Dr. Blackwell reached the following conclusions:

In my opinion, the problem with this patient’s neck is related to the degenerative joint and disk disease that is chronic and has been progressive over time.  It is my opinion that the complaint of neck pain recorded by Dr. Cain was an expression of acute neck pain superimposed on a chronic, but according to the records asymptomatic, problem that was temporarily aggravated by the April 04, 2003 injury.  The event that occurred on April 04, 2003 cannot be considered the cause for the myelopathic disease this patient has and that warranted consideration for surgery by Dr. Peterson early on in the course of his treatment of her.  There was no direct trauma that the patient sustained to the cervical spine.  Rather this is a function of a long-standing progressive compression of the spinal cord that has simply become more manifest over time.

Concluding neither Claimant’s work as a cabinet design specialist for Lowe’s, nor her April 4, or May 22, 2003 injuries were substantial factors contributing to her “current cervical and/or chronic pain conditions and/or symptoms,”
 Dr. Blackwell continued:

Ms. Anderson has had a longstanding problem with her neck.  It has been progressive over time. We know that arthritic changes of this nature are progressive over time. The issue is that in asymptomatic conditions that progression does not allow us to predict when and if a patient will ever become symptomatic and for that reason when a patient sustains a specific injury and that underlying disease becomes symptomatic, we indicate that to suggest the underlying disease would have become symptomatic whether or not the injury occurred is speculative.  Here, the MRI of 2004 showed cervical deneration (sic, degeneration) so severe that there were already changes in the spinal cord.  That leads to a clear conclusion based upon reasonable medical probabilities that it was only a matter of time before the current symptoms would occur and that the patient would require the surgery now recommended by Dr. Delamarter.  The urgent need for surgery to the cervical spine is the cord compression and that is a function (sic, of) the chronic disease not the effects of the subject work injury…

Important in reaching this conclusion is the consideration of the mechanism of injury.  There was no direct injury that occurred to the cervical spine.

Dr. Blackwell responded to a series of questions as follows:

Q:  Had Ms. Anderson not worked for the employer or suffered her April 04, 2003 or May 22, 2003 injuries, would her cervical condition and/or symptoms have resulted in the treatment being recommended by her treating physician at this time and to this degree?

A:  Yes.

Q:  If yes, please identify the non-work-related factors, which are the sole cause of Ms. Anderson’s current cervical and/or chronic pain conditions or cervical symptoms.

A:  In my opinion, the problems of neck pain with radiating pain into the upper extremities and, indeed, the apparent myelopathic process are related to the patient’s underlying disease and would have resulted in the need for treatment, whether or not the subject injuries occurred.
Q:  Did the April 04, 2003 injury aggravate, accelerate or combine with a preexisting condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the disability?

A:     No.

Q:    If not, can you rule out the injury as a substantial factor in the aggravation, acceleration or combining with the preexisting condition?

A:   There is no history of substantial injury to the cervical spine having occurred that would suggest a reasonable medical basis to correlate the injuries of April 04, 2003 or May 22, 2003, as being substantial enough on their own or combining with the underlying disease to account for the patient’s current need for treatment to the cervical spine that requires decompression and fusion. The patient’s underlying condition is sufficient on its own to account for her current clinical picture.

J.   Cervical Surgeries (August 8, 2008 and October 3, 2008).

On referral from Dr. Chandler, Claimant was seen by Louis L. Kralick, MD, on August 5, 2008.  On August 8, 2008, Dr. Kralick performed a discectomy at C4-5, C5-6, C6-7; C5 vertebrectomy and decompression; and C6-7 anterior disc excision, decompression and fusion, the first of two staged surgical procedures.
  On October 3, 2008, he performed a posterior decompression and segmental stabilization at C4-C7.
  Post-operatively Claimant was reporting improvement in her neck pain.
  

Claimant continued to treat with Dr. Nassar and Lila Berry following her first cervical surgery:  “Chief Complaint:  pain, stress.  Had her neck surgery last week…Is in a full neck brace, following her surgery mood is optimistic, affect brighter…hoping her surgery has been successful.  Is also stressed & anxious;
 “Has to have another surgery on her neck…Mood-down. Affect-somewhat flat behavior…Feels like she is ‘a mess’ emotionally…Is feeling poorly, depression is worse, ‘They took my life.’”
 “Feeling worse & depression is up [related to] this…Mood-down; Affect-down…Deconditioned [due to] back pain;”

Claimant continued her care at PBHG following her second cervical surgery: “Feeling discouraged due to pain in her back being up…back pain is up.  Worried about whether she will be able to regain her health.  Stress level is up due to pain & mood is down;”
 “Continued pain…in…neck…Back is hurting…Depressed related to feeling like she is not healing like she would like to;
 “Is back in school now, is happy for that-but her back pain is [increasing]…States back is not feeling well.”

K.  Dr. Bald’s EME Addendum (October 8, 2008.)

At the employer’s request, Dr. Bald reviewed two letters dictated by Dr. Chandler dated August 26, 2008, in which Dr. Chandler explained to Claimant’s counsel he had ordered the sleep study to ensure Claimant was not at risk for a serious apnic event secondary to sleep apnea or other sleep abnormality.  He noted Claimant had a snoring history, and because she was on high dose narcotics, there was concern she was at risk for hypoxia from narcotic medications during sleep.  Dr. Bald concluded Claimant’s original work injury was not a substantial factor in her need for a sleep study.
  Although recognizing Claimant was taking narcotic medications for treatment of “chronic pain related to both her lower back and neck,”
 and acknowledging narcotic medications can aggravate an underlying sleep apnea, Dr. Bald opined the performance of a sleep study is not reasonable or necessary treatment in a pain management program.”

L.  Dr. Blackwell’s SIME Addendum (October 22, 2008).

Asked through interrogatory whether Claimant’s work and work injuries were “a substantial factor contributing to [her] preexisting cervical condition resulting in the treatment [she] is receiving at this time and to this degree,” Dr. Blackwell responded:  

The underlying cervical spondylosis and diffuse degenerative joint disease are progressive conditions that in my estimation resulted in spinal stenosis and myelopathy.  This is based on reasonable medical probabilities and is substantiated by the orthopedic literature that allows us to state the natural progression of such a process occurs.  There is nothing in the history or records that I reviewed that would suggest that the nature of her work was an accelerant to the natural progression of her disease or that the injuries of April 4, 2003 or May 22, 2003 contributed directly to her current condition with respect to the cervical spine and the need for surgery.

In response to the question whether her work or work injuries or treatment for those injuries were “a substantial factor in worsening any preexisting cervical symptoms thereby motivating her to seek treatment at this time and to this degree,” Dr. Blackwell opined:

In my opinion the work since 1999, her injuries or resulting treatments did not rise to the level of being a substantial factor in worsening any of her preexisting cervical symptoms that would thereby cause her to seek treatment at this time and to this degree for the reasons mentioned above…

Asked if the cervical surgery first recommended by Dr. Delamarter on November 14, 2006 would have been delayed or not necessary at that time or to that degree if Claimant had never worked for the employer or suffered her work injuries, Dr. Blackwell replied:

The nature of the question requires me to speculate in a manner that I cannot apply the standard of reasonable medical probabilities.  I cannot predict based on data in the orthopedic literature or by personal experience when a patient might or might not come to surgery at any given time based on any underlying pathology.  Nor can I state that but for the work performed by the employee or the injury/injuries sustained at work that she would not have needed the surgery that was done, or when it would be done or the extent it would be needed.

Clearly, work-related activities cause more wear and tear on muscles and joints than activities of daily living by the very nature of work assigned over a specific period of time that has to be accomplished.  That said, I cannot with any degree of medical certainty suggest that her job caused acceleration to any already underlying significantly severe degenerative spondylosis condition that by itself would have led to the patient having surgery sooner than one would anticipate.

III.   Procedural History.

The parties reported Claimant’s April 4, 2003 work injury on a Report of Occupational Injury (ROI) dated April 18, 2003.
  The injury was described as Strain Low Back Area.  In response to the question:  If you doubt validity of injury or illness, state reason, the employer replied “No.”
 Claimant continued working until May 22, 2003, when she was taken off work by Dr. Cain after suffering a further work injury while reaching upward for a clipboard.
   

Claimant filed a WCC for unpaid time loss, medical bills, and penalty for employer’s late reporting, on June 24, 2003.
  She described the work injury at that time as “lower hip & back pain causing pain down both legs,” and noted she was seeking time loss, medical, transportation and re-employment benefits.
  She filed a second claim, dated July 22, 2003, seeking transportation costs for mileage accrued travelling to and from medical appointments.
  The employer filed separate Answers to each claim, on July 29, 2003.  In answer to the claims, the employer admitted liability for temporary total disability (TTD) from May 26, 2003, medical benefits related to employee’s April 4, 2003 injury, and transportation expenses.  The employer did not dispute the claim for re-employment benefits, but raised the absence of a formal request for reemployment benefits as an affirmative defense.
  

Employer paid both TTD and mileage reimbursement, including penalties, in response to Claimant’s WCC.
  It thereafter paid TTD from May 22, 2003 through February 15, 2004; temporary partial disability (TPD) from February 16, 2004 through August 28, 2005; and TTD again from August 29, 2005, through July 1, 2007.
 

On May 31, 2007, Michael Jensen, Esq. entered an appearance for Claimant and filed another WCC, alleging the body parts injured were both back and neck, and describing the nature of the injury as “Cervical protrusions C4-5, C5-6; lumbar protrusion L3-4; L2, L5 annular tear; degenerative disc disease.”
  Benefits sought included medical and medical related transportation for cervical surgery C4-7, permanent partial impairment (PPI) to be determined, penalty, attorney’s fees and costs.
  The employer responded through counsel, admitting responsibility for PPI once Claimant was medically stable and had been rated, noting PPI was never controverted; asserting it had never controverted medical or cervical surgery; no transportation associated with any cervical surgery had yet been incurred; denying any penalty was owed as no benefits had been denied or controverted; and further denying attorney fees and costs, stating no benefits to which Claimant was entitled had been withheld.
 

Employer filed its first Controversion Notice on July 10, 2007, averring, based on the EME report of Dr. Douglas Bald, Claimant’s lumbar condition was medically stable; no benefits were due for Claimant’s cervical complaints nor the osteoarthritis in her hip, which Employer asserted were unrelated to the April, 2003 work injury; and no further medical treatment, other than narcotic medications was required to treat Claimant’s lumbar condition.
 Employer filed another Controversion Notice on July 31, 2007, similar to the July 10 controversion, but conceding appropriate medical care for Claimant’ lumbar spine included narcotic medications, disc replacement rechecks and treatment with Providence Behavioral. Disability benefits ceased.
  Effective July 2, 2007, Employer converted Claimant’s TTD benefits to installment payments of the 22% PPI rated by Dr. Bald for her lumbar spine condition.

On September 26, 2007, Claimant amended her May 31, 2007 WCC, alleging PPI greater than the 22% determined by the EME physician, further PPI for her cervical condition, medical and medical related transportation pertaining to cervical surgery, penalty relating to medical care for her cervical condition, interest, costs and attorney fees.
 In answer to the Amended WCC, and based on the EME physician’s report, the employer denied PPI benefits greater than 22% were due, and denied PPI benefits, medical or medical-related transportation costs or penalties or interest were owed, as Claimant’s cervical condition was not work-related.
 

Claimant filed a second amended WCC on July 24, 2008, adding “Chronic pain” and “depression” to the injuries claimed; seeking reclassification to TTD of the PPI payments employer began paying on July 2, 2007, claiming she remained medically unstable at that time  due to chronic lumbar pain and depression.  She sought PPI greater than 22% for her low back condition;  PPI to be determined for her cervical condition, chronic pain and depression; medical and medical related transportation for her cervical surgery; medical treatment for her lumbar spine beyond narcotic medications, disc replacement rechecks and treatment with Providence Behavioral Medicine Group; penalty relating to cervical medical treatment, interest, attorney fees and costs.
  Answering the second amended WCC, the employer denied TTD was due for chronic pain or depression as no evidence was presented that Claimant’s chronic pain or depression were work-related; denying PPI greater than 22% for her lumbar condition; denying medical and travel costs for any cervical condition; denying additional treatment beyond what Claimant was then receiving, and denying penalty, interest or attorney fees were due.

The PPI payments paid to Claimant based on Dr. Bald’s 22% whole person impairment rating continued through September 17, 2008.
  Employer began paying re-employment stipend benefits on September 18, 2008, but ceased paying them on October 17, 2008, after filing a Controversion of reemployment benefits on November 14, 2008, alleging  “Ms. Anderson has dropped all her UAA classes and is no longer participating in the reemployment plan as of 10/17/08.”
  The newly-controverted issue of reemployment benefits was not before the Board at the time of hearing and will not be addressed here.

At a prehearing conference on December 2, 2008, the parties agreed the issues for hearing were “TTD from 7/31/2007 (sic)
 forward, medical costs for the cervical and lumbar spine, transportation costs, PPI, interest, attorney fees and costs.  The issue of penalties was withdrawn.

IV.  Deposition and Hearing Testimony.

A.  Dr. Douglas Bald’s Deposition Testimony.  

Dr. Bald testified by deposition on January 8, 2009.  He is a Board certified orthopedic surgeon.  On direct examination by the employer he reiterated the findings set out in his EME Report of June 9, 2007, stating Claimant’s cervical symptoms, though acutely caused by the work injury of April 4, 2003, had “resolved relatively quickly with treatment and then redeveloped.”
 He reached this conclusion, he stated, because he was “reasonably certain” Claimant would have mentioned ongoing neck pain to “the surgical specialist she was seeing,” if her cervical symptoms had continued.  Because he found no mention of ongoing neck pain in the medical records of surgical specialists after July, 2003, he concluded her cervical symptoms were “exclusively related to her severe degenerative disk disease and [were] unrelated to the work injury of April of 2003.”
  This was also the basis for his conclusion that work-related factors could be ruled out:  

When she’s no longer mentioning any symptoms to the specialist that she’s seeing related to her neck or potential radicular symptoms in her arms, and the time frame is consistent with a subacute strain to resolve, the natural assumption from that is that, in fact, the related component to her neck condition had resolved. (Emphasis added).

Concerning Claimant’s lumbar spine, Dr. Bald restated his position that the lumbar spine was  medically stable on the date of his examination.  In addition, he acknowledged he and Dr. Barrington conducted impairment evaluations of Claimant’s lumbar spine similarly, through the double inclinometer method, using range of motion, rather than diagnosis-related estimates.  Comparing the measurements resulting in his PPI rating of 22%, with Dr. Barrington’s PPI rating of 34%, Dr. Bald indicated the difference was only in the degree of range of motion Claimant exhibited at the time of each examination.
  

Dr. Bald testified it is his practice when conducting medical evaluations, to examine employees for symptom magnification, which he described as pain complaints or behavior inconsistent with his physical findings, but found none in Claimant.
  He agreed Claimant suffered from chronic pain syndrome from her low back condition.
  When questioned, Dr. Bald explained the opinion stated in his written report, that Claimant’s lumbar condition had reached medical stability on June 9, 2007, applied to her chronic pain syndrome as well.  He reversed his earlier opinion concerning the reasonableness and necessity for a sleep study, and acknowledged the study was in fact reasonable to ensure Claimant’s narcotic pain medications did not exacerbate any sleep apnea if it existed.
  

On cross-examination Dr. Bald admitted he treats primarily knee and shoulder problems in his clinical practice, with “maybe” 20% of his practice treating backs, and 10% treating necks.  He does not perform lumbar surgery, and has not done so for ten years.  He does not perform steroidal injections for pain relief, nor manage patients for pain.  He tries “not to get involved” in treating chronic pain patients.
 He testified he is neither a psychologist or psychiatrist, and  does not render psychological opinions.
 He noted spinal fusions often lead to progression of degenerative changes above and below the levels of the fusion.
  Dr. Bald acknowledged narcotic medications would improve Claimant’s range of motion, and she was taking narcotic medications when he measured her range of motion to determine her degree of lumbar impairment.
 He noted Claimant has had significant pain and extensive surgeries, and “certainly has a reason for her pain to persist and it is likely [to] be permanent.” 
  He would no longer limit the treatment for her chronic pain to narcotics alone, as his report stated, but believed muscle relaxants, and anti-inflammatory and neurological agents may be helpful in her pain management.
  He agreed a spinal cord stimulator might be appropriate for Claimant’s chronic pain.  He disapproved as inappropriate a thecal pump for administration of medications, as well as any formal physical therapy beyond a “low-back-specific self-directed exercise program.”
  

Dr. Bald was not provided with any medical records prior to April 2003, before conducting his evaluation.
 He testified he was supplied with Dr. Leach’s chart notes and daily progress and procedural notes, but did not mention them in his report because he did not believe they were “pertinent.”
  He was uncertain whether he reviewed Dr. Nassar’s chart notes prior to issuing his own, but stated a psychiatric report would not have been “pertinent” to his evaluation in any event.
 Dr. Bald would not opine on any need for psychiatric counseling or treatment,  agreeing those were issues outside his area of expertise.
 

B.  Dr. Leon Chandler’s Deposition Testimony.  

Dr. Chandler also testified by deposition on January 8, 2009.  Dr. Chandler is a pain management specialist.  He obtained his medical degree in anaesthesia in 1967, and has been practicing pain management since 1987.  He operates AA Pain Clinic, where greater than 50% of his patients suffer chronic pain from spinal conditions.  Dr. Chandler testified the physicians at AA Pain Clinic have been treating Claimant for her chronic pain since July 2003. He noted Claimant’s back pain continued after her disc replacement surgery in part because the disc replacements caused her to gain more than in inch in height, stretching the spinal nerves.  He affied sometimes stretching those nerves is more than the body can tolerate, causing excruciating pain, which may not respond well to narcotics, and may require electrical stimulation or other medications.
 

In addition to narcotic pain medications he is prescribing for Claimant, he is also prescribing the anti-inflammatory Celebrex, and Lyrica for nerve pain.
  Dr. Chandler testified he cannot predict what further pain management Claimant will need in the future beyond pain medication.  Those decisions will be made based on the level of functionality she obtains with the pain medication alone.  A further option if her pain continues as her activities increase would be a trial epidural stimulator followed by an implanted stimulator if found it will increase Claimant’s quality of life.
  He does not know whether Claimant will require additional nerve blocks.

Dr. Chandler testified he referred Claimant to Dr. Nassar in 2006, for the depression she was suffering from her chronic low back pain.
  He testified chronic pain is pain which never stops, and it wears a patient down.  He explained the constant stimulus from chronic pain in the hypothalmic region, through which all nerve transmissions pass, given the close proximity of the hypothalamic area to the brain, almost always causes depression.
 

Dr. Chandler testified he referred Claimant for a sleep study to ensure the narcotic medications he was prescribing for her chronic pain did not interfere with her ability to breathe at night, given her history of snoring and his concern this might indicate she suffered obstructive sleep apnea.  He testified a sleep study was reasonable and necessary here because people on high doses of narcotics prescribed to make them functional during the day, as is Claimant, are at risk of dying during sleep if they have obstructive sleep apnea.
 Dr. Chandler testified the sleep study revealed Claimant does suffer obstructive sleep apnea.  Because of the danger sleep apnea poses to patients on narcotic medications, Dr. Chandler believes Claimant needs a CPAP machine, and a further polysomnogram to determine the correct air pressure for the CPAP, in order to ensure efficient breathing at night.  Alternatively, her obstructive sleep apnea might be controlled by surgical reconstruction of her jaw and pharynx, and by weight reduction.  He noted Claimant has been financially unable to obtain a CPAP machine.

Dr. Chandler opined Claimant’s lumbar spine related chronic pain condition will be with her forever, and will be the primary limiting factor in her overall future functionality.
  He further testified it is reasonable and necessary for a chronic pain patient on Class II narcotics, such as Claimant, to be seen at the pain clinic on a monthly basis to evaluate whether the medications are working adequately, and, through random urinalysis and pill counts, whether the medications are being misused.  He is continuing to follow Claimant for her lumbar spine related chronic pain condition.
  

Dr. Chandler further testified that when Claimant first became a patient at AA Pain Clinic, her lumbar spine complaints were prominent, although her cervical complaints were reported and noted at the initial intake evaluation in July, 2003.  He averred that from Claimant’s first appointment with AA Pain Clinic, until she underwent her multiple cervical surgeries in 2008, her cervical symptoms never resolved.  He explained Claimant’s treating physicians could deal with only one “fire” at a time, and because her lumbar pain was the most prominent initially, treatment efforts focused on her lower back.  Dr. Chandler noted, however, her cervical problems did not go away.
  He testified it is his experience that where treatment is focused on an area of most concern, what frequently happens is the patient will not mention an area that is not bothering her as much.
  He opined Claimant’s continuing chiropractic treatment for her cervical spine is evidence she continued to have cervical symptoms.

Dr. Chandler stated that while Claimant had a preexisting problem in her cervical spine, the injury she sustained while working at Lowe’s exacerbated the degenerative disc disease in both the cervical and lumbar spine.
  He opined the work injury was a substantial factor in causing the cervical condition to become symptomatic, the symptoms were a substantial factor in the need for treatment of her cervical condition, and the symptoms were a substantial factor in the need for treatment of Claimant’s cervical spine to have occurred at the time it did and to the degree it did.
  He testified it is his professional opinion Claimant’s April 4, 2003 injury and resulting three lumbar surgeries were substantial factors in her lumbar spine related chronic pain condition.
   
Finally, Dr. Chandler testified he referred Claimant to Dr. Barrington for a permanent impairment rating because he does not perform impairment ratings.  He noted he would defer to Dr. Nassar on whether or not Claimant is medically stable, because pain management and psychological profile are “one in the same.”
  He agrees with Dr. Nassar that additional treatment may result in further improvement of Claimant’s chronic pain condition.

C.  Dr. Ramzi Nassar’s Deposition Testimony.  Dr. Nassar testified by deposition on January 2, 2009.  He is a licensed medical doctor, board certified in psychiatry.
  He practices with Providence Behavioral Health Group, where approximately thirty to forty percent of his practice is treating adults suffering chronic pain.
  He first began treating Claimant on April 19, 2006, for chronic pain and mood problems, and she remains under his care.
 His working diagnosis has been and continues to be “Mood Disorder Due to General Medical Condition, which is her chronic pain.”
 He testified Claimant’s mood symptoms, which include despondency, frustration, difficulty sleeping, difficulty concentrating, and subjective feelings of depression, increase with increased physical pain.
  Dr. Nassar testified these can be disabling in that they cause decreased energy, decreased capacity for concentration and decreased ability to problem solve.
  

Dr. Nassar testified the treatment for chronic pain is threefold, including pain management, medication for depression, anxiety and sleep, and counseling therapy.  He testified Dr.  Chandler  provides the medication and intervention for pain management, and he and Lila Berry, LCSW, provide the medication and counseling for her chronic pain related mood disorder.  At the time of deposition, Dr. Nassar was prescribing Cymbalta, 60 milligrams daily; Lunesta, three milligrams daily; and Clonazepam, .05 milligrams, one twice a day.
  Although none of these are narcotics, Dr. Nassar is aware Claimant is prescribed narcotics for her pain.  While she may have developed a dependence on narcotics, as would anyone prescribed them for a prolonged period of time, he does not believe Claimant has misused or abused the prescribed narcotics.

Dr. Nassar testified Claimant’s mood disorder and depression are “absolutely” components of her chronic pain condition.
 While deferring to Dr. Chandler’s recommendation Claimant needed a sleep study to rule out hypoxia from the narcotic medications he was prescribing for pain, Dr. Nassar noted opiate medications can cause respiratory depression, and “it makes a lot of sense” for someone on these medications to have a sleep study to rule out hypoxia and loss of oxygen at night.
  He noted regulating sleep “goes a very, very long…way to help regulating mood and the depression, as well as…pain.”
  Dr. Nassar testified he believes Claimant’s work injury at Lowe’s, resulting in three lumbar surgeries, was a substantial factor in her chronic pain, chronic sleep problems, mood disorder, depression and memory loss.
  He testified Claimant had not reached medical stability at the time he wrote a report on April 28, 2008, nor had she reached medical stability at the time of deposition on January 2, 2009.  He testified he expected she would experience further improvement in her psychiatric symptoms when her chronic pain was better controlled.
  He opined further counseling would be helpful toward this goal.
 Dr. Nassar testified Claimant’s concern whether she will regain her health has been a constant during his treatment of her, and as recently as a December 19, 2008, appointment, when her pain was up, her mood was down.  He opined her pain and depression are linked, and when her pain is under control, her depression, though still there, is manageable and she is functional.  It is Dr. Nassar’s professional opinion Claimant will have a ratable permanent impairment for her chronic pain and depression once she is medically stable.

On cross-examination, Dr. Nassar testified his early records indicate Claimant’s chronic pain was “secondary to her spine,” not her hip, Claimant did not complain to him of hip pain, and he has no reason to believe Claimant’s hip was contributing to her reports of pain.
  He stated he was aware of Claimant’s neck surgeries and neck pain, acknowledged her neck pain is contributing to her continuing medical instability and need for psychiatric treatment, but she came to him for her chronic back pain, the clinical notes document numerous instances of her mood problems worsening in relation to increased lower back pain,
 and Claimant’s chronic low back pain continues to be a substantial factor in her need for psychiatric treatment.
  Dr. Nassar testified that while any stress can contribute to a mood disorder, he did not believe Claimant’s family stressors were causally related to her mood disorder.

D.  Dr. Edward Barrington’s Hearing Testimony.  

Dr. Barrington testified telephonically at the hearing.  He is a Board Certified Chiropractic Neurologist, Board eligible in electro-diagnostics, and has been in active practice, focusing on the treatment of spines, for 25 years.  He performs approximately 100 PPI ratings per year.  He testified Claimant was referred to him twice, once by Dr. Cain to conduct EMG studies of her lower back in June, 2003; and once by Dr. Chandler to conduct a PPI evaluation of Claimant’s lower back in August, 2007.  In both instances he was directed to examine Claimant’s lumbar, not her cervical spine.  He noted Claimant indicated pain in her neck and shoulders in a pain drawing for him in June, 2003, but he explained to her at that time he was not directed to examine her cervical spine.

Dr. Barrington explained his use of the double inclinometer Range of Motion measurement of Claimant’s lumbar spine.  After a series of warm-up movements, with two inclinometers, and using four measurements for flexion, and three for the other measurements, he measured Claimant at 20 degrees loss of forward flexion, extension at 10 degrees, and  right and left bending at 10 and 7 degrees respectively.  Considering her multi-level lumbar surgeries, and using the 5th Edition AMA Guidelines, he rated Claimant with a 34% whole person permanent impairment. 

Asked to comment on Dr. Bald’s finding Claimant suffered no loss of flexion, no loss of extension, only 0-2 degrees loss of right bending, and no loss of left lateral bending, Dr. Barrington first stated it would be “amazing” she would have full extension after three surgeries and a two level spinal fusion, and later said it would be “impossible.” Dr. Barrington noted Dr. Blackwell’s range of motion measurements from February, 2008, showing “limited” forward flexion, extension at only 5 degrees, and right and left lateral bending at 15 and 10 degrees respectively, are more in line with and thus support his lumbar impairment findings.  Dr. Barrington testified his 34% whole person impairment rating was of Claimant’s lumbar spine only.  He did not include in his calculation any impairment rating for chronic pain, although chronic pain is ratable in some cases under the AMA Guides, and could increase a PPI rating. 

E.  Pamela Anderson’s Hearing Testimony.  

Claimant testified in person at the hearing.  Before the disability resulting from her work injury and surgeries, she had been a kitchen design specialist for fourteen years.  She described the injury she sustained while working at Home Depot in June, 1999, as involving her low back only, not her neck.  She was off work for the 1999 injury for two or three weeks, was discharged from care in April 2000, and had no problems thereafter.  Claimant testified she experienced no neck problems prior to the April 4, 2003 injury at Lowe’s.  She stated the checkmark she made in a box on Dr. Cain’s intake form suggesting she had been told in the past she had a “herniated disk” in her neck was made in error.  She remembers nothing wrong with her neck prior to the April 4, 2003 work injury.  Prior to the injury, Claimant testified, she maintained a membership at the Alaska Club, went to the gym daily for up to two hours a day, went cross-country and downhill skiing, and was active with her children’s sports.  

Claimant described as accurate the mechanics of her work injury and the symptoms that followed, as set out in Dr. Cain’s Narrative Report from her first medical visit following injury, on April 17, 2003.  She testified her cervical pain, with radiation into her hands, mostly the left, did not change until she had the cervical surgeries in 2008.  She noted that while Dr. Peterson recommended the cervical surgery in 2006, she did not have it done at that time because she was waiting for the workers’ compensation adjuster to approve it.  She testified that her private health insurance ran out while she was awaiting workers’ compensation approval. The massage and acupuncture she was receiving were helpful, but she could no longer afford to continue with those treatments once the employer controverted her cervical symptoms.  She testified since the cervical surgeries performed in 2008, her neck pain has lessened, and while she still has numbness in her hands, she has been told it will improve.  

Claimant presented a spreadsheet of the outstanding medical expenses for her neck surgeries.  She testified the workers’ compensation insurance carrier is now only paying for narcotic medicines and for visits to Dr. Nassar, although at the time of hearing she had an outstanding balance due Providence Behavioral Health Group in excess of $1,800.00.  She testified she has an outstanding balance due AA Pain Clinic for her pain management of approximately $7,000.00. After she could no longer work, Claimant testified, she applied for and received public assistance through Alaska Temporary Assistance Program (ATAP), Medicaid and food stamps.

F.   Tiffany Benning’s Hearing Testimony.   

Ms. Benning testified in person at the hearing.  She is Claimant’s adult daughter.  She graduated from college in 1999 and has been employed as an instruments control designer for CH2MHill, for the past seven and a half years.  Ms. Benning described Claimant before the April 4, 2003 injury as active, energetic, outgoing, and having a positive outlook.  Before the work injury, she testified, she and Claimant would work out together at the gym, and went bike riding, skiing, camping and fishing.  Since the work injury, Ms. Benning stated, Claimant does none of these things.  She tires easily, and can no longer watch her younger children’s sports events for more than 20-30 minutes without having to lie down in the car.  She testified Claimant was no longer outgoing but  instead was sleeping constantly, isolating herself and had gained weight.  She testified Claimant loved her work as a kitchen design specialist. She recalls Claimant complaining of problems with her neck, hands and arms, and seeing her rubbing her shoulders and neck since the first lumbar surgery.  She testified Claimant’s depression became manifest after the second lumbar surgery, when the pain prevented her from returning to work.  

G.  Alicia Thurman’s Hearing Testimony.  

Ms. Thurman testified she has been a Workers’ Compensation Claims Manager and/or Adjuster since 1984.  While she was not the original adjuster on Claimant’s WCC, she was the adjuster for much of 2003 while employed with GAB Robins, North America, Inc.  Ms. Thurman testified GAB used nurses at a company known as Bunch & Associates for medical management and bill review.  Upon direct examination by Employer’s counsel, Ms. Thurman testified GAB’s 36 page Activity Notes printout covering the period May 5, 2003 through January 26, 2004 does not mention Claimant complaining of neck pain, and reflects her back problem was the focus of her care during the period.   She noted, however, there were significant problems with one nurse in particular at Bunch & Associates who was involved in reviewing Claimant’s claim, and not all of the contacts and records are reflected in the Activity Notes.  Ms. Thurman provided no explanation why adjuster notes beyond January 26, 2004 were not produced.  

V. Parties’ Arguments.


A.  Claimant’s Arguments

Claimant contends the employer has failed to overcome the presumption of continuing compensability for her lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder. She argues the PPI benefits paid from July 2, 2007 should be reclassified as TTD, because she was not medically stable due to lumbar-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder at the time Employer converted TTD to PPI.  Claimant asserts TTD should continue until such time as medical stability is achieved, with credit against reinstated TTD for PPI and .041k benefits paid.  

Claimant further contends she is entitled to continuing medical treatment for her lumbar spine and related chronic pain, and chronic pain related depression, beyond narcotic medications, disc replacement rechecks and psychiatric and psychological treatment, including payment for the sleep study.  Claimant argues she is entitled to the presumption of continuing compensability for her cervical spine condition, including the cervical surgeries, because the employer has failed to overcome the presumption of compensability for her cervical spine condition by substantial evidence.  In support of this contention she argues EME physician Dr. Bald relied on erroneous factual information and applied an incorrect legal standard of causation in reaching his conclusion.  She argues SIME physician Dr. Blackwell failed to rule out the work injuries as a causative factor for her previously asymptomatic condition becoming symptomatic at the time and to the degree that it did, and applied the incorrect legal standard of causation. Claimant further avers she is entitled to a 34% PPI rating for her for her lumbar spine, and additional PPI for her chronic pain condition, her chronic pain-related mood disorder and her cervical condition, to be determined when she attains medical stability.

Claimant further seeks statutory interest on all past due benefits owed, including medical expenses. Finally, Claimant seeks payment of attorney’s fees and legal costs for establishing her entitlement to TTD benefits from July 2, 2007, medical benefits for her lumbar spine beyond narcotic medications and disc replacement rechecks, and for her lumbar spine related chronic pain and chronic pain related mood disorder, including the sleep study, additional PPI for her chronic pain and mood disorder, reimbursement for her payment of Dr. Barrington’s PPI evaluation, and for establishing the continuing compensability of her cervical condition.


B. Employer’s Arguments
Employer concedes “[t]here is no dispute that [Claimant’s] lumbar condition is compensable.”
  Employer asserts the main issue in this case is whether Claimant’s work injuries of April and May, 2003, aggravated, accelerated or combined with Claimant’s pre-existing degenerative cervical condition, and were a substantial factor contributing to her need for cervical surgery.
 Employer further concedes Claimant has established the preliminary link between the work injury and her cervical condition, but argues it has overcome the presumption of continuing compensability for her cervical condition with substantial evidence.
  

To rebut the presumption of continuing compensability for Claimant’s cervical condition, the employer cites the absence from the medical records of any mention of neck pain by the Claimant from shortly after the initial injury in April, 2003, until an MRI in August 2004 when Dr. Peterson diagnosed cord compression in her neck.
 Employer argues while Claimant had initial complaints of muscle tightness and pain in her cervical spine, these complaints ended shortly after her initial evaluation in April, 2003.
 In its Hearing Brief Employer summarizes the medical records it argues support this assertion.  Employer avers the EME report and deposition testimony of Dr. Douglas Bald, the report of Dr. Peterson and the SIME report of Dr. Blackwell constitute substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of continuing compensability for Claimant’s cervical spine condition.  Employer argues the reports of these physicians both dismiss the idea Claimant’s cervical condition is work-related, and provide an alternative explanation for Claimant’s need for surgery, namely, her pre-existing degenerative cervical condition.
 Employer argues the reports of Drs. Bald, Peterson and Blackwell should be accorded the most weight in the Board’s analysis.

Employer further argues the EME physician’s PPI rating of 22% for Claimant’s lumbar spine injury is accurate, and Dr. Barrington’s rating is inadmissible under Commercial Union v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).  Because Dr. Barrington’s rating may not be considered, employer concludes, the only evidence of Claimant’s PPI is the 22% rating from Dr. Bald, which the Board must adopt.

Finally, based on the EME report, the employer argues Claimant’s lumbar condition was medically stable on June 9, 2007, and thus its cessation of TTD benefits in favor of installment payments of PPI benefits on July 2, 2007, was appropriate.
  In response to Claimant’s assertion she was not medically stable on June 9, 2007, due to lumbar spine related chronic pain and chronic pain related depression, Employer argues there is no evidence Claimant was not medically stable due to her chronic pain-related depression until Dr. Nassar’s report in April, 2008, which ER avers is the first evidence she was “no longer medically stable after mid 2007.” Employer contends Dr. Chandler’s referral for and Dr. Barrington’s performance of a PPI rating in August, 2007, constitute evidence she was medically stable at that time.  Accordingly, Employer avers, Dr. Chandler, Dr. Barrington and Dr. Bald provide substantial evidence to overcome any presumption Claimant was not medically stable in mid 2007.  Employer concludes if Claimant’s cervical condition is not work related, then, based on the evidence, the Board cannot award Claimant further TTD. 

VI.   Attorney Fees and Costs 

Claimant’s counsel submitted an Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs on January 12, 2009, for the period October 18, 2004 through January 12, 2009, for 93 attorney hours at $350.00 per hour, for a total of $32,585.00.  In addition there were listed 99.50 paralegal hours at $150.00 per hour, for a total of $14,925.00.  At the hearing on January 20, 2009, counsel submitted a Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs for services from January 12 through January 19, 2009, for an additional 10.90 attorney hours, and 1.90 paralegal hours at the same hourly rates.  On January 22, 2009, counsel filed his Final Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs for services from January 20 through January 22, 2009, reporting an additional 6.5 hours of attorney time, and an additional 1.4 hours of paralegal time at the same hourly rates.  Thus the attorney and paralegal fees claimed for the period October 18, 2004 through January 22, 2009, total $53,101.50.  Costs listed for Anchorage Fracture and Orthopedic Clinic’s Medical Report, Dr. Chandler Conference and Deposition, Dr. Chandler Court Reporter cost, Dr. Nassar Deposition Fee, Dr. Nassar Court Reporter cost, Dr. Barrington PPI Rating Evaluation, Dr. Bald Deposition, postage, copying, courier, mileage for travel to hearing, and facsimile total $7,187.36.

Employer did not dispute either the number of hours expended or the hourly rate charged for the professional services of Claimant’s counsel or his paralegal assistant. Nor did it contest any of the costs for which reimbursement is claimed.  Employer argued in closing, however, it never controverted benefits pertaining to Claimant’s lumbar condition.  On January 23, 2009, the Board received a letter from Employer’s counsel stating it had paid for the sleep study ordered by Dr. Chandler, as well as “all of the Providence Behavioral bills.”  Counsel concluded, “[t]hus the issue of payment of the billings for Dr. Nassar and Providence Behavioral as well as the sleep study are no longer at issue before the Board.”
  Claimant’s counsel responded, arguing because Claimant prevailed on the issue of compensability for the sleep study and the Providence Behavioral bills, it was still necessary for the Board to consider the issues of interest, attorney’s fees and costs pertaining to those bills.

VII.   Outstanding Medical Bills

Claimant filed billing statements reflecting outstanding bills for medical care for pain management, psychiatric and psychological counseling, a sleep study, her lumbar spine and her cervical spine, including two cervical surgeries.  Bills outstanding for professional services and supplies Claimant received for her cervical spine were summarized on a spreadsheet submitted and verified by Claimant at hearing, and totaling in excess of $128,000, of which she paid $22,406.05 personally, with in excess of $100,000.00 remaining outstanding.
  Omitted from the spreadsheet, but filed with the employer and with the Board on or about March 24, 2009, is an outstanding bill and dunning notice from Munger Prosthetics and Orthotics, Inc., for a cervical collar from August, 2008, in the amount of $492.31.

In addition to outstanding medical bills pertaining to Claimant’s cervical spine and surgeries, unpaid invoices from AA Pain Clinic for Claimant’s pain management, from January 3, 2006 through January 7, 2009, total $6,859.00.
  Payment for professional services rendered by Dr. Nassar and PBMG totaling $1,860.00 were believed to be due and owing.
  Dr. Barrington’s bill for $1,100.00 for the PPI evaluation was paid by the office of Claimant’s counsel, who seeks reimbursement for it.  Employer admitted it owed this sum, but had not paid it.
  Also outstanding was the cost for the sleep study discussed supra, although the cost for the sleep study may be included in the outstanding bills from AA Pain Clinic.  Finally, a bill in the amount of $60.00 from “The Healing Center,” dated September 7, 2007, was filed and served on the Board and the Employer on November 6, 2007.  There is no indication on what date the services were provided from which this bill arose, or whether this bill has been paid.

Following the hearing, the parties notified the Board the employer had paid for the sleep study, as well as the Providence Behavioral bills for psychiatric and psychological services outstanding at the time of hearing.
  On April 24, 2009, however, the Board received a letter from Claimant’s counsel containing a past due bill and dunning notice from PBMG reflecting a $137.00 balance due.
 

  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. CLAIMANT’S OBJECTIONS TO DR. HOLM NEUMANN’S EME REPORT.

Our statutes and regulations provide relatively relaxed rules for admissibility of evidence at Board hearings.  AS 23.30.135 states in pertinent part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

With respect to medical records, 8 AAC 45.052 provides in part: 

(5)  a request for cross-examination must specifically identify the document by date and author, generally describe the type of document,  state the name of the person to be cross-examined, state a specific reason why cross-examination is requested, be timely filed under (2) of this subsection, and be served upon all parties.  

(A) If a request for cross-examination is not in accordance with this section, the party waives the right to request cross-examination regarding a medical report listed on the updated medical summary.

(B) If a party waived the right to request cross-examination of an author of a medical report listed on a medical summary that was filed in accordance with this section, at the hearing the party may present as the party’s witness the testimony of the author of a medical report listed on a medical summary filed under this section.  

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.120 states in part:

(c) each party has the following rights at hearing:

(1) to call and examine witnesses;

(2) to introduce exhibits;

(3) to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even though the matter was not covered in the direct examination;

(4) to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify; and

(5) to rebut contrary evidence.

. . .

(e) technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions.  Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions. . . .

(f) any document, . . . that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board's possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board's discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing.  The right to request cross-examination specified in this subsection does not apply to medical reports filed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052; a cross-examination request for the author of a medical report must be made in accordance with 
8 AAC 45.052.

. . .

(h) If a request is filed in accordance with (f) of this section, an opportunity for cross-examination will be provided unless the request is withdrawn or the board determines that

(1) under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence, the document is admissible;

(2) the document is not hearsay under the Alaska Rules of Evidence; or 

(3) the document is a report of an examination performed by a physician chosen by the board under AS 23.30.095(k) or AS 23.30.110(g).  (Emphasis added).

Unless the party offering a medical record as evidence has provided an opportunity for the party objecting to that evidence to cross-examine the document’s author, we cannot consider the document unless it would be admissible over objection in a civil action by virtue of one of the Rules of Evidence, or an exception thereto.

We find Employee entered a timely Smallwood  objection to Dr. Neumann’s EME report.  We find Dr. Neumann’s report was prepared specifically for litigation purposes, and does not fall within any of the exceptions set out at 8 AAC 45.120(h).  We find Employer did not make Dr. Neumann available for cross-examination.  Therefore, we conclude we cannot rely upon the opinions set forth in Dr. Neumann’s report in reaching our decision in this case.   

II. EMPLOYER’S OBJECTIONS TO DR. BARRINGTON’S PPI EVALUATION REPORT.

We find Employer timely entered a Smallwood objection to admission of Dr. Barrington’s report.
  We find Claimant cured the Smallwood objection by presenting Dr. Barrington for cross-examination at hearing on January 20, 2009.   Accordingly, we may rely on Dr. Barrington’s report in reaching our decision in this case.

III.
COMPENSABILITY OF EMPLOYEE’S CLAIMS FOR BENEFITS.

A.  The Presumption Analysis under AS 23.30.120.

An injured worker is afforded a presumption the benefits she seeks are compensable.
 
AS 23.30.120(a) provides, in relevant part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  We utilize a three-step analysis when applying the presumption of compensability.
  

First, the claimant must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed disability and her employment.  Evidence needed to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending upon the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to raise the presumption.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  A claimant need only adduce “some,” “minimal,” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between benefits sought and the employment injury,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability or impairment.
 The presumption of compensability continues during the course of the claimant’s recovery from the injury and disability.
  A pre-existing condition does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravates, accelerates or combines with the pre-existing condition to produce the disability for which compensation is sought.”
  A substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury bearing a causal relation to the disability.
  
At this first stage in our analysis we do not weigh the witnesses’ credibility.
   If we find such relevant evidence at this threshold step, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the employee need produce no further evidence and she prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
 

 Second, once the preliminary link is established and the presumption has attached to the claim, the burden of production shifts to the employer.  At this second stage the employer is called upon to overcome the presumption by producing “substantial evidence” the claimant’s injury was not related to her employment.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

There are two methods for an employer to overcome the presumption of compensability:  (1) present substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work related factors as a substantial cause of the employee’s disability; or (2) directly eliminate all reasonable possibilities that work was a factor in causing the employee’s disabling condition or need for treatment.
  Thus, to rebut the presumption, the employer must produce substantial evidence that either (1) non-work-related events alone caused the employee’s worsened condition, or (2) there was no possibility that employment was a factor in causing the disability.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion,” we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation,
 deferring questions of credibility and weight we give it until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee's injury entitles her to the benefits she seeks.
  

An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies the employee’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.
  However, medical evidence does not constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee’s need for medical treatment or disability, without ruling out work-related causes.
  In determining whether the evidence offered is substantial we cannot abdicate our fact-finding role by relying upon inconclusive medical evidence to overcome the presumption.
 Medical evidence based on speculation is not substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.
  A longstanding principle we must include in our analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee’s favor.
 

In the third step in our analysis, if the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the  presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefit drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of her case by a “preponderance of the evidence.”
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must "induce a belief" in the mind of the fact-finder that the asserted facts are probably true.
 Where, as here, the work injury occurred prior to the November 7, 2005 effective date of the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, the claimed condition is compensable if the work injury was “a substantial factor” in bringing it about.
  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1) the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people would regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.
  
We apply the above described analysis to the issues raised here:  Claimant’s requests for reinstatement of  TTD from July 2, 2007; for medical costs for her lumbar spine, lumbar spine-related chronic pain condition, and chronic pain-related mood disorder, beyond narcotic medications, disc replacement rechecks and psychiatric and counseling services; for payment for a 34% PPI for her lumbar spine; for additional PPI for her chronic pain and mood disorder; and for continuing compensability for her cervical spine condition. 

B.  Temporary Total Disability Benefits

Claimant seeks TTD benefits for her work injuries from July 2, 2007, the date Employer ceased paying TTD and commenced installment payments of PPI,
 until she reaches medical stability from her work-related injuries, including her lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder. The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act (Act) defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality,"
 and states TTD may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.
  

The Alaska courts long ago defined TTD for its application in our cases.   In Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board,
 the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as "the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work."  The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total disability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

Medical stability is defined as follows:

“medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. . . .

Chronic debilitating pain is defined as:

“chronic debilitating pain” means pain that is of more than six months duration and that is of sufficient severity that it significantly restricts the employee’s ability to perform the activities of daily living;

We find a claimant has reached medical stability from the effects of a compensable injury when there is no longer a reasonable expectation additional medical care or treatment will result in objectively measureable improvement.  We find the employer is liable for TTD benefits while a claimant is not medically stable and is unable to work due to her work injury, until she reaches medical stability.  

As an initial matter, we find Claimant raised the presumption of compensability for benefits for her lumbar and cervical spine complaints when she developed pain in her lower back and neck after feeling a pull in her lower back while lifting a 50 pound cabinet and turning to the left, while at work on April 4, 2003.  We find the presumption of compensability attached to Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain condition no later than November 29, 2003, after conservative treatment including chiropractic care, narcotic medications, multiple nerve blocks and IDD therapy failed to relieve her lumbar pain, and, following multilevel lumbar fusion, Dr. Peterson noted Claimant’s discharge diagnosis as “severe chronic back pain.
  We further find the presumption of compensability attached to Claimant’s chronic pain-related mood disorder no later than April 19, 2006, after three lumbar surgeries failed to relieve her lumbar pain, and she was referred to and first saw Dr. Nassar, who diagnosed Mood Disorder Due to General Medical Condition.  

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
 Thus, Claimant is entitled to the presumption she is not medically stable.
 Once the presumption of compensability attaches, it continues unless and until it is rebutted by substantial evidence.  However, since the determination of medical stability turns on the presence or absence of a reasonable expectation of objectively measurable improvement from additional medical care or treatment, we conclude it is the type of complicated medical question which requires some medical evidence to raise the presumption.  

Based on the medical records of PBMG  and AA Pain Clinic, and the testimony of Drs. Chandler and Nassar, we find Claimant sustained the presumption she was entitled to continuing compensability for her lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder, and was thus not medically stable, no later than July 2, 2007, when Dr. Nassar reported Claimant suffered a recent setback of her chronic pain-related mood disorder.  He wrote he was adjusting her medications and she was continuing to attend counseling sessions to address this reversal in her condition.
  Dr. Chandler at that time was reporting Claimant with persisting pain and chronic sleep deprivation, 
 and was recommending a sleep study be performed.  We further find Dr. Delamarter at this time opined Claimant might need to have the L5-S1 artificial disc removed, and a fusion, in order to control Claimant’s pain at that level.

We find Employer accepted compensability for Claimant’s lumbar spine condition.  We further find the employer rebutted the presumption of continuing compensability of Claimant’s cervical spine condition through the June 9, 2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, who stated while the work injury was a significant factor in Claimant’s early cervical spine symptoms, because he concluded from the medical records those symptoms resolved “relatively quickly” and “redeveloped” later, her cervical spine complaints were exclusively the result of her multilevel degenerative spondylosis and not the work injury.  

We find, however, Dr. Bald’s June 9, 2007 EME report failed to rebut, by substantial evidence, the presumption Claimant remained medically unstable as a result of, and was entitled to continuing compensability for her lumbar spine-related chronic pain condition.  Dr. Bald’s report stated only the “low back condition has reached the point of medical stability,”
 and “As it relates to her lumbar spine…the claimant is clearly medically stable and…does not require further medical treatment, nor is further treatment being considered directed toward her lumbar spine.”
  We find Dr. Bald was referring here to medical stability in the mechanical operation of Claimant’s lumbar spine, and was not asserting her lumbar spine-related chronic pain had reached medical stability.  This finding is further evidenced by Dr. Bald’s recognition that while “no further medical treatment is felt to be reasonable or necessary directed towards the claimant’s lumbar spine…I do think it is reasonable to consider continuation of narcotic medications for treatment of her chronic pain complaints.”
  We find, unlike his statements pertaining to the operation of Claimant’s lumbar spine, Dr. Bald made no assertion Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain was medically stable. On the contrary, we find Dr. Bald’s conclusion Claimant’s chronic pain complaints required further medical treatment is evidence her chronic pain condition was not stable when he conducted the EME on June 9, 2007.
  

We further find Employer has failed to rebut, by substantial evidence, the presumption Claimant remains entitled to continuing therapeutic medical and psychiatric care for her chronic pain-related mood disorder.  We find Dr. Bald’s written report fails to mention ever having reviewed the chart notes from Dr. Nassar and therapist Lila Berry, who had been treating Claimant for her chronic pain-related mood disorder for over a year by the time Dr. Bald examined her in June 2007.  We find Dr. Bald failed to mention even an awareness Claimant suffered from and had been treating for a chronic pain-related mood disorder.  Because Dr. Bald expressed no opinion on Claimant’s chronic pain-related mood disorder, we find employer failed to produce substantial evidence to overcome the presumption Claimant’s chronic pain-related mood disorder was not medically stable on July 2, 2007. 
 

However, had we found Employer rebutted the presumption Claimant remained entitled to continuing medical care for the course of recovery from her lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder, we would also find Claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder had not reached medical stability on July 2, 2007, nor was she medically stable at the time her treating physicians were deposed in January, 2009.  

On issues concerning Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain, we accord greater weight to the opinions of treating physicians Dr. Chandler and Dr. Nassar, than to the opinion of Dr. Bald.  We find, by his own admission, Dr. Bald’s orthopedic practice involves treatment primarily of knees and shoulders, with only a small fraction of his practice involving treatment of the lumbar spine.  We find he does not perform lumbar surgery, has no special training in pain management, does not manage patients for pain, and tries “not to get involved” in treating chronic pain patients.  We find, by his own admission, Dr. Bald does not have an opinion concerning the need for continuing psychiatric counseling or treatment because it is outside of his area of expertise,
 he is not qualified to render opinions concerning psychological or psychiatric issues, and if he had seen the medical records from PBMG in June, 2007, he did not consider them because they were “not pertinent to why [he] was seeing her.
  Moreover, we find at the time Dr. Bald conducted his EME in June, 2007, he had been provided with medical records through only February 7, 2007,
 and thus rendered his opinion on medical stability in the absence of the most recent five months of medical records.

We further find inconsistent with his EME report, and thus unpersuasive, Dr. Bald’s conclusory response at deposition that his earlier opinion Claimant’s lumbar spine was medically stable applied to her chronic pain syndrome as well.  We find this added opinion, stated for the first time 18 months after he examined Claimant on one occasion, from a physician relatively inexperienced in pain management, untrained in psychiatric issues arising from chronic pain, and missing the most recent five months of medical records at the time of evaluation, is entitled to little or no weight. We find Dr. Bald changed his original position that only “narcotic medications” were reasonable and necessary to treat Claimant’s chronic pain, to include muscle relaxants, anti-inflammatory and neurological agents, and perhaps a spinal cord stimulator; and at deposition reversed his earlier opinion a sleep study was not reasonable for treating pain patients, and agreed a sleep study is appropriate to test for obstructive sleep apnea in chronic pain patients prescribed large doses of narcotic medications.  We find these reversals further diminish his overall credibility on issues pertaining to chronic pain patients in general, and the medical stability of Claimant’s chronic pain in particular.  

We place greater weight on the opinions of Drs. Chandler and Nassar, the physicians treating Claimant for her chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder, who concur Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder persist and have not reached medical stability.  We find Dr. Chandler, an anaesthesiologist by training, has been a pain management specialist for over 20 years, in a practice where greater than 50% of his patients suffer chronic pain from spinal conditions.  We find he and the physicians at AA Pain Clinic, of which Dr. Chandler is the Director, have been treating Claimant regularly since July, 2003, and are thus more knowledgeable and better informed of Claimant’s condition.  We find persuasive Dr. Chandler’s opinion Claimant’s April 4, 2003, injury and resulting three lumbar surgeries are substantial factors in her lumbar spine-related chronic pain.  We find Dr. Chandler has been treating Claimant with narcotic medications, muscle relaxants, neurological agents and nerve blocks.  While Claimant’s future treatment beyond pain medications remains uncertain, we find from Dr. Chandler’s testimony further treatment may include, among other modalities, a trial spinal cord stimulator, followed by an implanted stimulator, depending on Claimant’s functioning.  We further find from both Dr. Delamarter’s and Dr. Chandler’s medical records, Claimant may need to have one of the artificial discs removed from her lumbar spine, and another fusion at that level, in order to provide some relief for her chronic pain.
  

We find Dr. Chandler’s deferral to Dr. Nassar on whether Claimant’s chronic pain has reached “medical stability” because “pain management and psychological profile are one in the same,” a finding Dr. Chandler, as does Dr. Nassar, believes Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain has not yet reached medical stability.  We find Dr. Chandler’s willingness to attempt other modalities of pain management to increase Claimant’s functioning, such as a trial spinal cord stimulator when he is “able to get her to a level where we can stress her to see what happens;” and his belief, expressed at least since July 27, 2007, she is chronically sleep deprived in part from chronic pain, and would benefit from a CPAP machine,
 in conjunction with Dr. Nassar’s belief improving Claimant’s sleep will reduce her pain and improve the symptoms of her mood disorder; evidence of a reasonable expectation Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related depression would continue to improve, and were not medically stable on July 2, 2007, or at the time of deposition in January, 2009.  

We place considerable weight on Dr. Nassar’s opinion Claimant has not attained medical stability for her chronic pain and related mood disorder. Dr. Nassar is board certified in psychiatry.  He practices with PBHG, where approximately 30-40 percent of his practice is treating adults suffering chronic pain.  He has been treating Claimant regularly since April 19, 2006, as has a therapist working under his direction.  We find Dr. Nassar provides the medication management to treat the psychiatric aspects of chronic pain:  depression, anxiety and sleep problems.  We find his associate, Ms. Berry, provides the counseling aspect of Claimant’s chronic pain management.  We are persuaded by Dr. Nassar’s opinion Claimant’s work injury and resulting lumbar surgeries and condition were substantial factors in her chronic pain, chronic sleep problems, mood disorder, depression and memory loss, and that these are disabling conditions which cause her decreased energy, decreased capacity for concentration and decreased ability to problem solve.  We found Dr. Nassar well-informed, credible and convincing.

From our review of the entirety of Dr. Nassar’s treatment notes, as well as those of Claimant’s therapist, Ms. Berry, and from the treatment and procedure notes from AA Pain Clinic, we find no merit in Employer’s assertion no evidence exists Claimant was not medically stable when it converted Claimant’s TTD to PPI on July 2, 2007, until Dr. Nassar’s April 2008 letter explicitly stating she was not at that time medically stable.  We find Dr. Nassar’s and Dr. Chandler’s medical records provide ample evidence Claimant had not been restored to the condition her injury would permit by July 2, 2007, not the least of which is Dr. Nassar’s letter of even date explaining Claimant had recently suffered a setback in her chronic pain-related mood disorder, he was adjusting her medications, and she was attending further counseling sessions to address this reversal in her psychiatric condition,
 and Dr. Chandler’s and Dr. Delamarter’s consideration a fusion at L5-S1 may be necessary to relieve Claimant’s pain at that level.  We find, based on Dr. Nassar’s January 2009 deposition testimony, Claimant will experience further improvement in her chronic pain-related symptoms.  We further find convincing Dr. Nassar’s opinion that improving Claimant’s quality of sleep will aid in improving her chronic pain and depression.  We further find persuasive his opinion Claimant will have a ratable permanent impairment for her chronic pain and depression once she is medically stable.  

We find the employer has presented no affirmative evidence, either testimonial or documentary, to counter the great weight of evidence Claimant was not medically stable due to lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain related mood disorder when Employer terminated its payment of TTD on July 2, 2007.  We find from the PBMG and AA Pain Clinic records, Claimant remained disabled and unable to work at that time.
  We conclude Claimant was not medically stable on July 2, 2007, and thus TTD is owed to Claimant from July 2, 2007, at least until she attains medical stability from her lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder.   We will order the Employer to resume payment of TTD to Claimant beginning July 2, 2007, with credit toward its TTD indebtedness for PPI and .041(k) payments made during that time.

C.
Permanent Partial Impairment

AS 23.30.190 provides, in relevant part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . .

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

The parties concur Claimant is entitled to PPI benefits for her lumbar spine injury and surgeries.  We find the mechanical operation of Claimant’s lumbar spine medically stable. We find Claimant, through Dr. Barrington’s PPI evaluation, has raised the presumption she is entitled to a 34% permanent partial impairment rating for her lumbar injuries and surgery, exclusive of any additional rating for her lumbar spine-related chronic pain, chronic pain-related mood disorder, or her cervical injury and surgeries.  We find the employer has rebutted the presumption Claimant suffered a 34% PPI through the EME report and deposition testimony of Dr. Bald, who opines Claimant suffered a 22% whole person impairment for her lumbar spine condition, including its associated chronic pain. 

We find, however, Claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence she sustained a 34% permanent partial impairment from her lumbar spine injuries and surgeries, exclusive of any rating for her chronic pain syndrome or her chronic pain-related mood disorder.  We accord greater weight to the opinion of Dr. Barrington, and find Claimant suffered a  34% whole person impairment from her work-related lumbar spine injury and subsequent lumbar surgeries.  We find Dr. Barrington was well-informed, straightforward and forthright in his hearing testimony.  We find he was a credible witness.
  We find from both his written report and testimony, he performed the necessary measurements carefully and thoroughly, and to ensure accuracy had Claimant do warm-up exercises before beginning to measure her range of motion.  We further find Dr. Blackwell’s physical findings of measureable loss of flexion, extension, and of right and left lateral bending, six months after Dr. Barrington’s evaluation, support of Dr. Barrington’s findings of permanent impairment, and further diminish the credibility of Dr. Bald’s finding Claimant suffered no loss of extension, and minimal if any loss of flexion, or right or left lateral bending. We find persuasive and accord significant weight to Dr. Barrington’s opinion that it would be “impossible” for Claimant to suffer no loss extension, or minimal if any loss of flexion, or right or left lateral bending after undergoing three lumbar surgeries, including multi-level spinal fusion and multi-level disc replacement surgery, as Dr. Bald found.  We further find persuasive Dr. Barrington’s opinion Claimant’s chronic pain may result in further ratable permanent impairment consistent with Dr. Nassar’s testimony.  

Moreover, after careful review of Dr. Bald’s written EME report, we find no evidence to support his deposition testimony he considered Claimant’s chronic pain syndrome medically stable at the time he conducted his evaluation on June 9, 2007, and we find this assertion doubtful.  This casts further doubt on Dr. Bald’s PPI rating overall.  Accordingly, we find Claimant suffered a 34% whole person permanent impairment for her lumbar spine injury and subsequent surgeries, exclusive of any future rating for her chronic pain or chronic pain-related mood disorder. We found above Claimant was entitled to TTD from July 2, 2007, and Employer’s cessation of TTD and its recharacterization of payments as PPI was premature.  Because we will credit toward Employer’s TTD indebtedness to Claimant the PPI and .041k payments erroneously paid, we will order the employer to pay Claimant a lump sum of $60,180.00 (34% of $177,000.00), representing the 34% permanent partial impairment suffered for her lumbar spine injury and surgeries.  We retain jurisdiction to consider issues pertaining to PPI for Claimant’s chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder.

D.  Employee’s Cervical Spine Condition

As above-stated, we found the presumption of compensability attached to Claimant’s cervical spine complaints when she developed pain in her lower back and neck after feeling a pull in her back while lifting a 50 pound cabinet and turning her body to the left, while at work on April 4, 2003.  Employer concedes Claimant has established the preliminary link between her work injury and the subsequent need for medical care for her cervical spine.
  The employer argues it has rebutted the presumption of compensability for Claimant’s cervical spine condition through the EME Report and deposition testimony of Dr. Bald, the SIME Report of Dr. Blackwell, and a letter from Dr. Peterson.

Claimant argues neither Dr. Bald’s EME opinion, nor Dr. Blackwell’s SIME opinion are supported by substantial evidence.  Citing the opinions of Drs. Chandler, Delamarter and Kralick, she argues the EME and SIME physicians’ opinions are speculative, contradict the treating physicians, fail to rule out work-related causes for her need for medical care for her cervical spine, apply an incorrect legal standard, and are equivocal, inconclusive and internally inconsistent.

Viewing the Employer’s evidence in isolation at this stage of the presumption analysis, we find, as above-stated, Employer has rebutted the presumption of continuing compensability for Claimant’s cervical spine complaints.  We find Dr. Bald’s opinion Claimant’s early cervical symptoms “resolved relatively quickly and…redeveloped more recently as a direct … and…exclusive [result] of her multilevel degenerative spondylosis,” and not the work injury, provides substantial evidence rebutting the presumption.
  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, after careful consideration and weighing of all admissible evidence, we conclude Claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her work-related injuries of April 4, 2003 and May 22, 2003, aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting degenerative cervical spine condition, and were substantial factors contributing to her disability and need for cervical surgery.  While we found Dr. Bald’s EME report was sufficient to overcome the presumption of compensability, we find it is insufficient to overcome the greater weight of evidence supporting our conclusion Claimant’s work injuries were a substantial factor causing her disabling condition and need for surgery at the time, in the manner, and to the degree she suffered disability and required cervical surgery.
  We further find reasonable people would regard the work injury as a cause for Claimant’s cervical symptoms and need for surgery arising at that time, and would attach responsibility to it.

As an initial matter, we find Claimant was a credible witness at hearing. 
  Claimant’s credibility is lent further support by Drs. Baldwin and Chandler, who found Claimant a good historian,
 and by Dr. Bald, who testified he examined Claimant for “symptom magnification” and found none.

Based on Claimant’s testimony and our review of the medical records, we find she had no significant problems with nor treatment for her neck prior to the work injury of April 17, 2003.  We find Dr. Blackwell concurs the medical records demonstrate Claimant’s neck was asymptomatic before the work injury.
  Based on Claimant’s testimony, Dr. Chandler’s testimony and the medical records, we find her neck symptoms never resolved following the work injury.  We further find the mark she made on Dr. Cain’s intake form, suggesting she had been told in the past she had a herniated disc in her neck, was made in error.  

In reaching our conclusion Claimant’s work injuries were a substantial factor aggravating, accelerating or combining with her preexisting degenerative cervical spine to cause her disabling condition and need for cervical surgery, we accord considerable weight to the professional opinions of treating physician Dr. Chandler, and treating surgeon Dr. Delamarter.  We find problematic in several respects, discussed more fully below, the opinions of Dr. Bald, Dr. Blackwell and Dr. Peterson.  We also place substantial weight on Claimant’s credible testimony, and on the medical records, which demonstrate Claimant’s preexisting cervical condition was asymptomatic until the April 4, 2003 work injury, and following the work injury her symptoms never resolved, but worsened.  

For a number of reasons we find unreliable Dr. Bald’s opinion Claimant’s disabling neck condition and need for surgery was a “consequence exclusively of her multilevel degenerative spondylosis.”
  We find the basis of Dr. Bald’s opinion is his belief Claimant’s neck symptoms, which he agreed developed acutely as a result of the work injury, resolved quickly and redeveloped at some later time.  We find he reached this conclusion because he was “reasonably certain” Claimant would have mentioned ongoing neck pain to “the surgical specialists she was seeing,” and since he believed she did not do so, it was his “natural assumption” her neck condition had resolved.
  We find Dr. Bald’s assertion faulty in two respects.  First, we find his opinion is based on his speculation this patient would have mentioned neck pain to specialists she was referred to for her lumbar pain, and his assumption that in the absence of mention, the pain did not exist.  We will not rely on speculative testimony.  

Secondly, we find Dr. Bald’s opinion is based on a mistake of fact.  We find, contrary to Dr. Bald’s assertion Claimant never mentioned neck pain to any “specialists,” Claimant complained of neck pain to Dr. Baldwin at AA Pain Clinic’s  in July, 2003.  Dr. Chandler testified her neck pain never resolved from her report of neck pain at her intake interview, but was simply overshadowed by her more debilitating lumbar pain.  Dr. Delamarter, who performed her second and third lumbar surgeries, concurred, stating Claimant complained to him of neck pain at her original consultation in March, 2005, but the severity of her low back pain caused her physicians to address her low back issues first.  

Moreover, we find the medical records, more fully described in the Summary of the Evidence, supra, substantiate Claimant’s assertion her neck pain persisted following the work injury, and did not resolve quickly and redevelop at some later date.  We find Claimant first complained of back and neck pain to Dr. Cain on April 17, 2003.  She continued to treat with Dr. Cain for her neck and back symptoms throughout April, May, June and July, 2003.  We find she suffered another work injury on May 22, 2003, after which, the medical records demonstrate, her lumbar symptoms became so severe,  including shooting pain in her leg, Dr. Cain took her off work, ordered a lumbar MRI which revealed a central disc protrusion at L3-L4, spinal stenosis due to degenerative changes at L3-L4 and L4-L5, and began a series of referrals to other specialists to determine the source of and treatment for her lumbar pain, the greater and more debilitating concern at that time.  

We find, however, Claimant at the time was still experiencing and reporting cervical symptoms to her providers.  She drew a circle indicating pain at the base of her neck on the intake diagram for AA Pain Clinic, and orthopedic evaluation by Dr. Baldwin revealed Spurling test positive bilaterally for left arm numbness in July, 2003.  She continued to treat with Dr. Cain for her neck symptoms throughout the summer.  But when a discogram in August, 2003, found evidence of an annular tear at all four lumbar levels, and severe disc degeneration at L3-L4,  Dr. Cain referred her to both Dr. Eule and Dr. Peterson, orthopedic surgeons, for her lumbar pain.  Claimant ultimately underwent a multilevel lumbar fusion surgery with Dr. Peterson on November, 24, 2003.   

We find, however, Claimant continued to treat regularly with Dr. Cain for her cervical problems from onset following the work injury, through October 29, 2003, and returned to Dr. Cain on December 3, 2003, following her first lumbar surgery.  We find Claimant reported her persisting neck pain to the physical therapist at Seethaler Physical Therapy on February 3, 2004, who noted Claimant was taking “flexeril: (neck),”
 and to Dr. Leach, to both of whom she was referred by Dr. Peterson following surgery.  

From our careful review of the medical records, we find Claimant continued to report and be treated for neck pain by Dr. Leach, from her initial visit with him in February, 2004, until her last visit in 2007, when she could no longer afford the treatment after her cervical spine condition was controverted.  We find in the medical records portion of Dr. Bald’s EME report he fails to even mention Claimant’s treatment with Dr. Leach, although Dr. Leach’s records are voluminous,  detailed, and consist of both legible handwritten notes of Claimant’s complaints, as well as typewritten notes of the treatment provided.  We find Dr. Bald unreasonably ignored and discounted the extensive care Claimant sought for her neck pain from Drs. Cain and Leach.  We find Dr. Cain’s and Dr. Leach’s medical records support Claimant’s assertion her neck pain never resolved after onset following the work injury, and thus seriously undermine Dr. Bald’s opinion her cervical symptoms and need for cervical surgery were exclusively the result of the preexisting degenerative condition of her cervical spine.  

We assign greater weight to and find Dr. Chandler, as a pain management specialist and Claimant’s treating physician, more persuasive in his assertion Claimant reported neck pain upon initial intake in July, 2003, and though her lumbar complaints became more prominent, her neck pain never resolved.  We find persuasive Dr. Chandler’s explanation that where treatment is focused on an area of most concern, as Claimant’s treatment was focused on her lower back after the second work injury in May, patients frequently do not mention an ailment of lesser concern at the time.
  We  find it consistent with human nature that when a physician refers a patient to another physician for a specific ailment, as here where Dr. Cain referred Claimant to Drs. Tew, Eule and Peterson for her lumbar complaints, she discussed with them the condition for which she was referred, and not every other ache and pain.
  We find little merit in Employer’s argument that Claimant’s failure to discuss her neck pain with physicians to whom she was referred for lumbar pain is evidence her neck was symptom free.  We further accord greater weight to Dr. Chandler’s opinion Claimant’s continuing to treat chiropractically with Dr. Leach for her neck is objective evidence her cervical symptoms persisted, than to Dr. Bald’s dismissal of Dr. Leach’s chiropractic care as not “pertinent.”

We further find Dr. Bald’s EME report internally inconsistent in two respects.  First, Dr. Bald concedes the work injury of April 4, 2003, was a significant factor in Claimant’s early cervical spine symptoms, but then states her cervical symptoms “were not affected by or aggravated by the work injury.”
  Second, while acknowledging the work injury was both “superimposed upon severe lower lumbar multilevel degenerative disk disease,” and “superimposed upon severe degenerative spondylosis, multilevel in nature, of the cervical spine,” he offers no plausible explanation why, when the injury was superimposed on “severe” preexisting “degenerative” disease in both the lumbar and cervical spines, care for injury to the preexisting degenerative lumbar spine, which was accepted, and care for injury to the preexisting degenerative cervical spine, which was controverted, were treated differently by the insurer.  

Finally, we find Dr. Bald’s statement “in my opinion the work injury event of April 4, 2003, is clearly not a significant contributing  factor  to her preexisting degenerative spondylosis,” suggests he  misunderstood and thus misapplied the applicable legal standard.  No one disputes Claimant had a preexisting, asymptomatic degenerative cervical condition.   We find the issue before us is not whether the work injury caused the degenerative spondylosis of the cervical spine, but rather whether the injury was a substantial factor which aggravated, accelerated or combined with the preexisting condition to cause the symptoms.  In DeYonge, the Supreme Court instructed us to not distinguish between the “aggravation of symptoms and the aggravation of an underlying condition.”
  For an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers’ compensation law, the employment need only have been “a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.”
  A work injury is a substantial factor if ‘but for’ the injury, the disability or need for surgery would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did.
  In other words, the work injury would not be a substantial factor if Claimant would have suffered the disability at the same time, in the same way, and to the same degree she did if she had never been injured at work.  Dr. Bald makes no such assertion.  As in DeYonge, Dr. Bald’s explanation does not exclude Claimant’s employment as a substantial factor in the aggravation of her degenerative cervical spine condition.  

Nor does the SIME report or Addendum of Dr. Blackwell credibly contend Claimant would have suffered her cervical symptoms and disability at the same time, in the same way, and to the same degree, regardless of the work injury.  On the contrary, Dr. Blackwell admits:

We know that arthritic changes of this nature are progressive over time.  The issue is that in asymptomatic conditions that progression does not allow us to predict when and if a patient will ever become symptomatic and for that reason when a patient sustains a specific injury and that underlying disease becomes symptomatic, we indicate that to suggest the underlying disease would have become symptomatic whether or not the injury occurred is speculative.

I cannot predict based on data in the orthopedic literature or by personal experience when a patient might or might not come to surgery at any given time based on any underlying pathology.

We find by admitting he cannot predict if or when a person with a progressively degenerating cervical spine might or might not come to surgery, Dr. Blackwell fails to eliminate the work injury as a substantial factor in causing Claimant’s cervical symptoms at the time and to the degree they occurred.

 We further find Dr. Blackwell’s SIME report and Addendum contain inconsistencies and speculation which render doubtful his opinion the work injury was not a cause for Claimant’s need for cervical surgery.  For example, he states that to suggest an asymptomatic condition would ever become symptomatic whether or not an injury occurred is speculative; yet he then propounds the very opinion he stated could be no more than speculation: “In my opinion…the patient’s underlying disease…would have resulted in the need for treatment, whether or not the subject injuries occurred.”
  

We find Dr. Blackwell relies on the 2004 MRI report to explain this apparent inconsistency, stating the MRI showed cord compression, “so it was only a matter of time before Claimant’s symptoms would occur.”
  We find, however, this explanation provides no basis for his conclusory affirmative response to the question: would Claimant’s underlying condition have required the recommended treatment at the time it was recommended?   Moreover, we find the 2004 MRI upon which Dr. Blackwell relied was conducted 16 months after the work injury, and 9 months after the two level spinal fusion.  We find Dr. Blackwell’s reliance on an MRI view of the condition of Claimant’s cervical spine 16 months after injury, and 9 months after a two level spinal fusion, to conclude she would have developed the cervical symptoms when they developed 16 months before, and would have needed the multilevel cervical spine surgery at the time it was recommended, regardless of the work injury, in light of his admission one cannot reasonably predict if or when an asymptomatic condition will become symptomatic, misplaced; and we find his conclusion so speculative we accord it little or no weight in our analysis.  

We find Dr. Blackwell’s opinions are also premised on the erroneous assumption, much like Dr. Bald’s mistaken belief Claimant’s cervical symptoms resolved quickly and redeveloped later, that the cervical spine care Claimant was receiving from Dr. Cain ended when he referred her to Dr. Tew for IDD treatment for her lumbar spine in June, 2003.
  We find from the medical evidence, Claimant continued to treat with Dr. Cain for her cervical symptoms throughout June, July, August, September and October, 2003, until her first lumbar surgery in November, and returned to him again in December, thus treating with him for her cervical symptoms some 6 months longer than Dr. Blackwell recognized.  We find Claimant was then referred by Dr. Peterson to Dr. Leach, also a chiropractor, and received continuous treatment for her cervical complaints from Dr. Leach until controverted in 2007.

We further find Dr. Blackwell appears to also have applied an incorrect standard in reaching his conclusions, as evidenced by the following statement:

In this instance, this patient has had long standing problems with her neck with degenerative changes that have been progressive over time and there is no indication that the incident of injury that occurred on April 04, 2003 or May 22, 2003 were substantial factors in contributing to the current condition of spinal cord compression.  In other words, it is my opinion that this patient has progressive cervical disc and joint disease resulting in cervical spinal stenosis and myelopathic involvement, unrelated to the work injuries mentioned above…Important in reaching this conclusion is the consideration of the mechanism of injury.  There was no direct injury that occurred to the cervical spine. (Emphasis added).

As previously stated, the issue before us is not whether the work injury caused the cervical spinal stenosis and myelopathic involvement, but rather whether the injury was a substantial factor which aggravated, accelerated or combined with the preexisting condition to cause the symptoms which gave rise to the employee’s disability or need for medical care.  An injury is a substantial factor in an employee’s need for medical care when ‘but for’ the injury the employee would not have suffered the disability at the time, or in the way, or to the degree that she did.  When a work injury worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions,  that constitutes an “aggravation,” even when the work injury does not actually worsen the underlying condition.
  We find Dr. Blackwell’s report fails to adequately or persuasively address the pertinent issue, and thus fails to overcome the weight of evidence supporting our finding the April 4, 2003 work injury aggravated Claimant’s asymptomatic cervical spine stenosis to become symptomatic, causing pain in her cervical spine which never resolved, thus worsening her symptoms such that, in conjunction with her work-related lumbar spine injury, she could no longer perform her job functions.  

Finally, we find Dr. Peterson’s opinion suffers from the same infirmities as those of Dr. Blackwell and Dr. Bald.  When first questioned whether Claimant’s cervical complaints were related to the work injuries, Dr. Peterson replied:  

The underlying etiology is degenerative and whether this was exacerbated or accelerated by her workers’ compensation related injury is difficult to determine…

He later expressed the following:

I have reviewed my own records and records on referral from Ben Cain, DC, and James Eule, MD, as well as procedure notes by Timothy Baldwin, MD…with regards (sic) to her cervical spine, Ms. Anderson obviously shows multisegment degeneration at C4 through C7 with severe stenosis, sufficient to result in findings of myelopathy.  These are chronic and progressive and her injuries, although probably exacerbating, were not causative.  In the absence of these injuries, given the severity of her cervical degenerative changes, I suspect she would have eventually gone on to require decompression and stabilization…
 

Again, the issue is not whether the work injuries caused the chronic, progressive multisegment degeneration at Claimant’s C4-C7 vertebrae,  but whether the injuries were “a substantial factor” aggravating, accelerating or combining with her preexisting degenerative condition to cause the cervical symptoms, and to require medical care, including surgeries, and disability at the time and to the degree the symptoms arose.  We find Dr. Peterson answers the question in the affirmative, stating the work injuries were “probably exacerbating.”  That based on Claimant’s underlying condition Dr. Peterson “suspect[ed]” she would have “eventually” gone on to require surgery, is  speculative and inconclusive, and fails to eliminate the work injury as a substantial factor in causing the symptoms and need for surgery to arise at the time, in the manner, and to the degree they did. 

We further find Dr. Peterson’s opinion was rendered based on his records, those of Dr. Cain, Dr. Eule and procedure notes from Dr. Baldwin.  Thus, Dr. Peterson, too, failed to acknowledge Claimant’s 9 months of treatment with Dr. Leach, and her 16 months of treatment with AA Pain Clinic.  Moreover, while Dr. Peterson concluded the work injury was the cause of Claimant’s worsening lumbar condition because those were continuous and worsening, stating:

Although she appeared to have degenerative disc changes that would predate the date of injury, symptomatic episodes up to that time had been quite self-limited.  Since that injury, pain and disability were continuous and worsening, leading to the supposition that this injury was a significant factor contributing to her clinical deterioration and eventual need for surgery, I believe on a more probable than not standard…

We find by Dr. Peterson’s failure to examine and consider the medical records from both Dr. Leach and AA Pain Clinic, which would have reflected Claimant’s cervical symptoms were continuous and worsening as well, his opinion is inconclusive.  We accord Dr. Peterson’s September 4, 2004 opinion little weight.

We place substantial weight on the credible testimony of Claimant that her neck was asymptomatic prior to the work injury, and her cervical symptoms never resolved after injury, but worsened.  We accord great weight to the medical records we find support this testimony. We place considerable weight on the opinions of treating physician Dr. Chandler, and treating surgeon Dr. Delamarter, that the work injury was a substantial factor aggravating, accelerating or combining with her preexisting degenerative cervical condition, causing her to become symptomatic and require medical care for her cervical spine. We find the opinions of Drs. Bald, Blackwell and Peterson inconsistent, inconclusive, speculative or based upon erroneous information, and accord them little or no weight. 

We conclude Claimant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence the work injuries were a substantial factor aggravating, accelerating or combining with her preexisting degenerative cervical spine to cause the neck pain and related symptoms to arise when they did, and to require the cervical surgery at the time it was recommended.  We further conclude reasonable people would regard the work injury as a cause and would attach responsibility to it.  We will order the employer to compensate Claimant for her losses attributable to her cervical spine condition, including TTD until she attains medical stability, PPI when rated, medical and transportation benefits, interest, attorney fees and costs.

E.   Medical Treatment

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires….

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:

Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel.”

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits.
 We found above the employer does not dispute Claimant’s entitlement to medical care for her lumbar spine.  We found Claimant is entitled to continuing compensability for her lumbar spine-related chronic pain, her chronic pain-related mood disorder, and her cervical injury and surgeries. Treatment, however, must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  We find the employer concurs Claimant suffers chronic pain from her lumbar spine injuries and surgeries, and requires pain medication, disc replacement rechecks and psychiatric care and counseling.
 We find this care is reasonable and necessary. We find the parties do not dispute Claimant needed the cervical surgeries she ultimately received.
  We find the surgeries were reasonable and necessary. We conclude Employer is responsible for Claimant’s reasonable and necessary medical treatment, including prescription medications and transportation costs, for her lumbar spine, lumbar spine-related chronic pain, chronic pain-related mood disorder, and for her cervical spine, including her cervical surgeries and attendant care.  

While Employer has not disputed Claimant requires pain management, we find, based on the account ledgers submitted, it failed to pay for care she received from AA Pain Clinic.  We find through the testimony of Dr. Chandler, Claimant has raised the presumption she requires regular pain management, including at least monthly appointments at AA Pain Clinic, to monitor her condition, and to oversee the proper use of the narcotic medications prescribed for her chronic pain through urinalysis and random pill counts.  We find Employer concurs treatment of Claimant’s chronic pain through narcotic medications is reasonable and necessary.  We find Employer has presented no evidence in rebuttal and has thus failed to rebut the presumption the monthly visits to AA Pain Clinic, the necessary lab fees, as well as the other pain management modalities undertaken to date by clinicians at AA Pain Clinic to alleviate Claimant’s chronic pain, are reasonable and necessary. We conclude Employer is responsible for payment for the outstanding costs Claimant has incurred for pain management with AA Pain Clinic.  We retain jurisdiction should a dispute arise concerning the reasonableness and necessity of any future treatment recommended for Claimant’s chronic pain.  

We find Claimant has raised the presumption the sleep study conducted was reasonable and necessary.  We find Employer has agreed to pay for the sleep study.  Had employer not agreed to pay for the sleep study, we would have found Claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence the sleep study was reasonable and necessary to rule out obstructive sleep apnea, a contributor to hypoxia in a patient, such as Claimant, on large doses of narcotic medications.

We find Employer has agreed to pay for the care Claimant received from PBMG.  Had Employer not agreed to pay for the care from PBMG, we would have found the employer failed to rebut the presumption of compensability for these charges.

We find the outstanding bill from Parkview Imaging, in Santa Monica, California, for imaging studies conducted on August 30, 2005, in the amount of $1,205.00, occurred on the day of Claimant’s lumbar disc replacement surgery in California.  We find from the date and location of the imaging study done at Parkview, Claimant has raised the presumption this procedure was associated with her lumbar surgeries.  Because we find no evidence in the record Employer received this bill from Parkview Imaging prior to its filing with the Board on March 24, 2009, we will allow the employer an opportunity to present evidence to rebut the presumption this expense was a reasonable and necessary medical expense pertaining to treatment for Claimant’s lumbar spine. 

We find the outstanding bill from Munger & Associates for a cervical foam collar, in the amount of $492.31, was incurred on August 6, 2008, the day following Claimant’s pre-surgical appointment with Dr. Kralick, and two days prior to her first cervical surgery on August 8, 2008.  We find Claimant has raised the presumption the cost of the cervical collar was reasonable and necessary in the care of her cervical spine condition.  Because we find no evidence in the record Employer received this bill from Munger & Associates prior to its filing with the Board on March 24, 2009, we will allow the employer an opportunity to present evidence to rebut the presumption this expense was a reasonable and necessary medical expense pertaining to treatment for Claimant’s cervical spine. 

We find Employer has agreed it is responsible for the cost of Dr. Barrington’s PPI evaluation, although has not yet paid it.  Had the employer not agreed to pay the cost of Dr. Barrington’s PPI evaluation, we would have found Claimant entitled to medical benefits for this cost in accordance with AS 23.30.095(a).

We find Claimant has raised the presumption the medical bills incurred for her cervical spine surgeries, listed on Hearing Exhibit 1, including but not limited to the services provided by Anchorage Neurosurgical Associates Inc., Providence Anchorage Anesthesia, Diagnostic Health, Madden Medical Associates LLC, Providence Imaging Center, Alaska Radiology Associates, and Providence Health System Alaska, were reasonable and necessary.  We find the employer reserved its right to challenge these items for reasonableness and necessity.  We retain jurisdiction should any dispute arise pertaining to these costs.

We find Claimant has raised the presumption the medical bill from the Healing Center (Dr. Leach), dated September 7, 2007, for therapeutic activities on July 25, 2007, in the amount of $60.00 was reasonable and necessary.  We find employer has failed to rebut the presumption this care was reasonable and necessary in the treatment of Claimant’s spinal conditions.

We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes regarding outstanding or future medical expenses relating to Claimant’s lumbar spine, lumbar spine-related chronic pain, chronic pain-related mood disorder, and cervical surgeries and recuperation. 

IV.
INTEREST.

Employee has made a claim for interest on all benefits that were not paid in a timely fashion pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, as follows:
AS 23.30.155 provides:

(a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it…
***

      (p)  An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. 

             Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in 

AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

       8 AAC 45.142 states:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) 
The employer shall pay the interest on late-paid time-lots compensation to the employee or, if deceased, to the employee's beneficiary or estate;

(1) on late-paid death benefits to the widow, widower, child or children, or other beneficiary who is entitled to the death benefits, or the employee's estate;

(2) on late-paid medical benefits to

(A) the employee or, if deceased, to the employee's beneficiary or state, if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits; 

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.
  

We find Claimant is entitled to the benefits set forth above.  Claimant is entitled to interest from Employer on any time-loss benefits, medical costs incurred by her, or other benefits, from the date on which those installments of benefits or payments were otherwise due, in accordance with this decision and order.  We will order Employer to pay interest as required by 8 AAC 45.142, to any person to whom the payment of benefits is past due, in accordance with this decision and order.  

V.
ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS.

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 
8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires the Board to consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the benefits resulting from the services.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

Based on our review of the record, we find Employer controverted essential aspects of this case, filing nine Controversion Notices.
  We find Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting her claim; and we find she incurred legal fees and costs.  We find this claim was relatively complicated and tenaciously litigated, involving opinions from a multitude of physicians, and requiring multiple depositions.  

We find Claimant’s counsel has specialized in the area of Workers’ Compensation for many years and is a skilled and experienced litigator.  We find he has successfully obtained valuable benefits for Claimant, including entitlement to TTD benefits from July 2, 2007; to PPI for her lumbar spine in excess of 22%;  continuing compensability for her chronic pain and mood disorder; continuing compensability for her cervical spine condition, including medical and time-loss benefits, as well as the potential for an additional PPI rating; payment of past due medical bills, including the costs for the sleep study, a PPI evaluation, and care from PBMG.  We conclude we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record in this case.  We found Mr. Jensen’s brief and arguments at hearing of benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We find Claimant’s counsel has provided a verified itemization of 110.4 hours of attorney time at $350.00 per hour, and 102.8 hours of paralegal time at $150.00 per hour, for a total bill for professional fees in the amount of $53,101.50.  We find the employer has not objected to either the number of hours or the hourly rate sought by Claimant’s counsel for his services or for those of his paralegal assistant.  We find the number of hours expended reasonable. We note the claimed hourly rate of $350.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced claimant’s counsel.  We further find we have recently awarded Mr. Jensen fees at the rate of $350.00 per hour,
 and find here $350.00 per hour is a reasonable rate for the services performed by Mr. Jensen in this case.  Accordingly, we will award attorney and paralegal fees in the amount of $53,101.50.

We further find the employer has not objected to the legal costs requested by Claimant.  We find the costs for which reimbursement is sought reasonable and compensable under 8 AAC 45.180.  We will award costs as requested, for a total award of legal costs of $7,187.36.  We note this cost award includes reimbursement to counsel for his payment to Dr. Barrington for the cost of Dr. Barrington’s PPI evaluation.

ORDER
1.  
Employer shall pay Claimant temporary total disability pursuant to AS 23.30.185, from July 1, 2007, until she attains medical stability from her cervical surgeries, her chronic pain, and her chronic pain-related mood disorder, including interest at the statutory rate on any installments not previously paid as either PPI or .041(k) benefits, with credit applied toward this indebtedness for payments previously paid as PPI or .041(k) benefits.

2.  
Employer shall pay Claimant the lump sum of $60,180.00, representing a 34% permanent partial impairment for her lumbar spine condition and subsequent lumbar surgeries, pursuant to AS 23.30.190. 

3.
Employer shall be responsible for all reasonable and necessary medical care associated with claimant’s work-related lumbar and cervical spine conditions, including chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder, pursuant to AS 23.30.095.

4.   
Employer shall pay AA Pain Clinic as set forth above, including interest at the statutory rate.

5.
Employer shall pay any outstanding bill to The Healing Center, plus interest at the statutory rate.

6.   
Employer shall pay Providence Behavioral Health Group for medical and counseling services rendered, including interest at the statutory rate. 

7.    
Employer shall pay for the sleep study, including interest at the statutory rate.

8.    
We retain jurisdiction to determine Employer’s responsibility for the bill from Munger & Associates as set forth above.

9.   
We retain jurisdiction to determine Employer’s responsibility for the bill from Parkview Imaging as set forth above.

10.
Subject to Employer’s audit for reasonableness and necessity, Employer shall pay for Claimant’s cervical surgeries and attendant care as follows:


A.
Employer shall pay Anchorage Neurosurgical Associates, Inc. for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical condition and surgeries, including interest at the statutory rate.

B.
 Employer shall pay Providence Anchorage Anesthesia for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical condition, including interest at the statutory rate.

C.
 Employer shall pay Diagnostic Health for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical condition, including interest at the statutory rate.

D.
  Employer shall pay Madden Medical Associates, Inc. for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical surgeries, including interest at the statutory rate.

E.
 Employer shall pay Providence Imaging Center for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical surgeries, including interest at the statutory rate.

F.
 Employer shall pay Anchorage Radiology Associates for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical surgeries, including interest at the statutory rate.

G.
 Employer shall pay Providence Health Systems Alaska for services pertaining to Claimant’s cervical surgeries, including interest at the statutory rate.

H.
 Employer shall reimburse Claimant for her direct payments for medical care for her cervical surgeries and attendant care, including interest at the statutory rate. 

11.  
Employer shall pay the Law Offices of Michael J. Jensen attorney fees in the amount of $53,101.50.

12.
Employer shall pay the Law Offices of Michael J. Jensen legal costs in the amount of $7,187.36.

13.
We retain jurisdiction to consider issues pertaining to PPI for Claimant’s cervical spine, chronic pain, and chronic pain-related mood disorder.

14.    We retain jurisdiction to resolve any other disputes which may arise from this Decision and Order.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 19 day of May, 2009.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  The Board will, in its discretion, grant a rehearing to consider modification of an award only upon the grounds stated in AS 23.30.130.
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� Chart Notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, D.C, February 13, 2004 (“neck and shoulder pain”); February 16 (“neck and shoulder tension”); February 18 (“neck and shoulder pain”); February 20 (“neck and shoulder pain”); February 23 (“neck and back pain”); February 25 (“neck and back pain”); February 27 (“neck and back pain”); March 1 (“neck and lower back pain”); March 8 (“sore neck”); March 10 (“neck and shoulder is sore”); March 12 (“sore neck and shoulders”); April 9 (“LBP [low back pain] and neck pain”); April 12 (“LBP and neck pain”); April 14 (“LBP and neck pain”); April 16 (“LBP, sore neck and legs”); April 19 (“Pt. came in with neck and LBP.  States that she is experiencing radiating numbness down L arm and leg”); April 23 (“L arm numb”); April 26 (“neck sore, L shoulder L arm still ‘falls asleep’”); April 28 (“radiating numbness down arms…pressure on neck”); 


� Physician’s Report, Davis C. Peterson, MD, February 19, 2004; AFOC Work Release, 2/18/04.


� Physician’s Report, 2/24-3/4/04.


� PT Referral from AFOC to The Healing Center, 3/4/04.


� Physician’s Report, Davis C. Peterson, MD, April 8, 2004.


� Id. at 2.


� Request for Consultation, 4/8/04.


� Work Release, 4/8/04.


� Chart Notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, April 9, 2004 (“LBP [low back pain] and neck pain”); April 12 (“LBP and neck pain”); April 14 (“LBP and neck pain”); April 16 (“LBP, sore neck and legs”); April 19 (“Pt. came in with neck and LBP.  States that she is experiencing radiating numbness down L arm and leg”); April 23 (“L arm numb…tight shoulder”); April 26 (“L shoulder L arm still ‘falls asleep’”); April 28 (“Radiating numbness down arms”).


� Chart Notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC,  April 19, 2004.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Note, Kevin M. Leach, DC, April 19, 2004.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, April 23 (“Joint dysfunction is present in the left middle cervical range.  Evidence of subluxation is identified with myospasm overlying the left lower cervical spine.  Signs of misalignment are apparent in the right upper, middle, and lower cervical areas.”), April 26 (“Malalignment is identified at the left middle cervical region.  Apparent joint dysfunction is noted with accompanying tense muscles located in the left lower cervical region.  Subluxation is detected at the entire right cervical spine.”), April 28 (“Evidence of subluxation is detected in the left middle cervical area.  Malalignment is identified together with muscular spasm specific to the left lower cervical area.  Joint dysfunction is present at the entire cervical range.”). 


� Daily Progress and Procedure Note, Kevin M. Leach, DC, April 28, 2004.


� Procedure Note, Alaska Spine Center, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, 4/29/2004.


� Id.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, May 7, 2004 (“A manually assisted short lever adjustment was used to alleviate malpositions and improve intersegmental as well as segmental range-of-motion in C1-C3, C6, and C7.”); May 10 (“A manually assisted short lever adjustment was performed to normalize intersegmental/global range-of-motion and lessen joint dysfunction in C2, C3, and C5 through C7.”); May 12 (“A specific low force adjustment was utilized to restore intersegmental as well as segmental mobility and rectify malalignments in C2, C3, C5 and C6.”); May 19 (“The presence of malposition is noted plus muscular spasm, inflammation, and pain to palpation in the lower cervical range bilaterally which radiates…A specific osseous adjustment was given to rectify malpositions and restore joint biomechanics in…C2, C3, C5, C6, and C7.”); May 21 (“The presence of malposition is noted with associated myospasm and pain to palpation localized to the upper cervical range bilaterally.  Evidence of joint dysfunction is apparent with accompanying spastic, inflamed, and tender deep paraspinal musculatures specific to the entire middle cervical range.  Signs of misalignment are evident together with spastic, inflamed, and tender musculatures at the left and right lower cervical area which radiates.”  Dr. Leach’s assessment was that Claimant’s “condition is relatively worse.”); May 24 (“Apparent subluxation is evident with spastic and tender deep paraspinal musculatures located at the entire upper cervical area.  Malalignment is identified with accompanying spastic, inflamed, and tender musculatures in the middle cervical region on both sides.  Subluxation is present with associated spasm, edema, and pain to palpation localized to the left and right lower cervical range which radiates.”).


� Chart notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, May 5, 2004 (“…feeling stressed.  Radiating numbness down arms”); May 7 (“Came in w/ LBP, radiating numbness down both arms, neck is really sore.”); May 12 (“Neck pain.  Radiating numbness and tingling down arms.”); May 14 (“Neck, shoulder and LBP.  Radiating numbness and tingling down arms.”); May 19 (“ Neck, shoulder and LBP.  Radiating Numbness and tingling down arms.”); May 21 (“Neck, shoulder and LBP. Radiating numbness and tingling down arm.”); May 24 (”Neck, low back.  Pain has subsided a little from last week when she was in tears.  L arm numb continues.”); May 26 (“Neck, shoulder and LBP.  Sore leg.  Radiating numbness and tingling down arms.”); May 28 (“Neck, shoulder and LBP”);.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, May 10, 2004.


� Chart Note, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, AA Pain Clinic, Inc., 5/17/04.


� Procedure Note, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, Alaska Spine Center, May 27, 2004.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, May 28, 2004 (“Signs of malposition are detected with muscular spasm and pain to palpation of the upper cervical area bilaterally.  Apparent malalignment is evidence with concomitant spasm, inflammation, tenderness in the middle cervical range on both sides.  Malposition is noted with spastic, inflamed, and tender deep paraspinal musculatures specific to both sides of the lower cervical area that radiates.”); June 2 (“Evidence of subluxation is identified with accompanying myospasm and pain to palpation specific to the entire upper cervical spine.  Misalignment is noted with concomitant spasm, edema, and pain to palpation at the middle cervical region bilaterally.”); June 4 (“Evidence of malposition is detected with concomitant myospasm and tenderness located in the upper cervical area on both sides.  Malalignment is identified with spastic, inflamed, and tender musculatures localized to both sides of the middle cervical spine.  Joint dysfunction is noted together with spasm, edema, and pain to palpation in the left and right lower cervical spine that radiates.”); June 9 (“Joint dysfunction is detected with associated spastic, inflamed, and tender deep paraspinal musculates in the lower cervical spine bilaterally.”); June 11 (“Signs of misalignment are apparent with accompanying spasm, inflammation, tenderness localized to the lower cervical range bilaterally.”); June 14 (“Signs of joint dysfunction are noted plus spastic, inflamed, and tender deep paraspinal musculatures of both sides of the lower cervical region.”); June 16 (“Misalignment is evident with associated muscular spasm, edema, tenderness localized to the entire lower cervical range.”); June 21 (“The presence of subluxation is noted with myospasm and tenderness of the middle and lower cervical ranges bilaterally.”); June 23 (“Evidence of malposition is detected with spastic and tender musculatures of the entire middle and lower cervical spine.”); June 25 (“the presence of misalignment is identified with accompanying myospasm and tenderness overlying the middle and lower cervical ranges bilaterally.”).


� Chart notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, June 2 (“Neck, shoulder and LBP, sore legs”); June 4 (“L neck & shoulder aches with cervical flexion to R.  Pt. feels like she can’t stand straight.”); June 7 (“LBP, Numbness Radiating down arms”); June 9 (“LBP, Numbness and tingling radiating down arms”); June 11 (“LBP, Numbness and tingling radiating down arms.”); June 14 (“Neck is sore”); June 16 (“Sore neck, radiating tingling down arms”); June 18 (“Sore Neck radiating tingling down arms”); June 21 (“LBP, radiating tingling and numbness down arms.”); June 23 (“LBP, radiating tingling and numbness down arms.”); June 25 (“LBP, sore legs, radiating tingling down arms.”); June 30 (“Radiating tingling …arms”).


� Chart Note, Leon H. Chandler, MD, AA Pain Clinic, 6/15/04; Letter from Dr. Chandler to Dr. Peterson, June 15, 2004.


� Physician’s Report, Davis C. Peterson, MD, June 29, 2004.


� Id.


�Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, June 30, 2004 (“Misalignment is detected with associated spastic and tender deep paraspinal musculatures located in the entire upper and middle cervical areas.  Joint dysfunction is noted with concomitant muscular spasm overlying the left lower cervical spine.  Signs of subluxation are present together with tense and tender muscles localized to the right lower cervical region.”); July 2 (“The patient states…her neck pain is much worse…The presence of joint dysfunction is evident with spasm and pain to palpation of the entire upper and middle cervical regions.  Evidence of misalignment is detected with spasm overlying the left lower cervical area.  Subluxation is noted with concomitant spastic and tender deep paraspinal musculatures localized to the right lower cervical area.”); July 5 (“Malposition is evident with associated spasm and pain to palpation localized to the entire upper and middle cervical spine.  Malposition is identified plus muscular spasm located in the left lower cervical region.  The presence of subluxation is detected together with myospasm and pain to palpation located at the right lower cervical area.”); July 7 (“Subluxation is detected with associated myospasm and pain to palpation specific to the upper and middle cervical regions on both sides.  Malalignment is evident plus spastic musculatures in the left lower cervical area.  Malposition is noted with tense and tender muscles of the right lower cervical ranges.”); July 9 (“Signs of malalignment are detected with muscular spasm and pain to palpation in the entire upper and middle cervical ranges.  Evidence of malposition is noted with spastic deep paraspinal musculatures at the left lower cervical area.  Joint dysfunction is present with concomitant spasm and tenderness overlying the right lower cervical region.’); July 16 (“…she chiefly is having pain with stiffness and soreness on her right side in the upper back and neck…Subluxation is detected with accompanying muscular spasm and pain to palpation at the middle and lower cervical ranges on both sides.”); July 21 (“Evidence of subluxation is identified together with tense muscles of the middle and lower cervical areas bilaterally.”); July 23 (“…today she primarily has pain with stiffness and soreness on her right side in the upper back and neck.”); July 28 (“…her main complaint is pain with stiffness and soreness on her right side in the upper back and neck…Apparent joint dysfunction is evident with concomitant tense and tender muscles in the entire cervical spine.”); July 30 (“…her principal complaint is pain with stiffness and soreness on her right side in the upper back and neck…The presence of misalignment is detected coupled with tense and tender muscles overlying all cervical ranges.”), August 2 (“The patient reports on her right side in the upper back and neck the pain with stiffness and soreness has not changed…”), August 4 (“…patient states that the pain with stiffness and soreness…in the…neck has not changed…Apparent malposition is evident with spasm located in the middle cervical spine bilaterally.  Signs of malposition are apparent plus muscular spasm and pain to palpation of the left lower cervical area.  Joint dysfunction is detected coupled with tesnse muscles localized to the right lower cervical spine…Her symptomatology is worsening.”), August 6 (“Evidence of malalignment is noted with accompanying spastic deep paraspinal musculatures located in the middle cervical region on both sides.  Apparent misalignment is present plus tense and tender muscles localized to the left lower cervical area.  Signs of malalignment are evident coupled with spasm overlying the right lower cervical area.”), August 9 (“…she is primarily having a severe grade of sharp, shooting pain in her right lower back.”), August 13 (“A manual osseous adjustment was employed to rectify malalignments and improve mobility in the …C2, C5 and C6…Ultrasound was given to the right and left sacroiliac and lower lumbosacral region …”).


� Chart notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, July 5 (“Can hardly move her neck, lateral flexion hurts.  Low back really painful the last 3 days.”); July 7 (“Came in w/ LBP, neck is tight.”); July 9 (Came in w/ LBP and neck pain.”); July 11(“Main C/O low back/neck pain.”); July 14 (“Neck and LBP”); July 16 (“Neck…upper back tension/soreness…pain”); July 19 (“Headache for 3 days…low back is much improved, neck soreness…less ROM looking to the R.”); July 23 (“Neck and LBP”); July 30 (“Neck and LBP.”).


� Chart notes (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, August 6, 2004.


� Chart Note, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, AA Pain Clinic, Inc., 8/11/04.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, D.C, August 18, 2004 (“Spastic deep paraspinal musculatures are detected overlying the left middle cervical range.  The presence of subluxation is evident together with muscular spasm at the right middle cervical range.  Subluxation is identified with accompanying spastic deep paraspinal musculatures in the left and right lower cervical spine...Her symptoms have worsened measureably.”).


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, August 23 (“…patient indicates her overall pain is an 8.”), August 25 (“Spastic deep paraspinal musculatures are noted at the left middle cervical area.  Malalignment is evident together with spastic musculatures in the right middle cervical spine  Malposition is present plus spasm located in the left and right lower cervical spine.”), August 27 (“…patient…does report to be having a cervical MRI tonight.”), September 1 (“this session’s therapy calls for massage therapy to stimulate local circulation, improve intersegmental as well as segmental joint mobility, and separate musculoligamentous adhesions, muscle infiltration, and tissue fibrosis in the …lower cervical area…”), September 10 (“…patient…inform[s] that she had injections and is on Neurontin…Apparent subluxation is identified plus spastic musculatures at the entire cervical area…A low force specific adjustment was performed to alleviate malalignments and enhance intersegmental/segmental joint mobility in the C2, C3, C5, and C6.”), September 15 (“Malposition is present with associated muscular spasm and pain to palpation located at the entire cervical spine.”), September 17, 2004, September 22 (“The application of massage therapy to restore joint biomechanics, increase local circulation, and foster the reduction of muscular adhesions, muscle infiltration, and tissue fibrosis in the …entire cervical area..”), September 25 (“This treatment was administered to the…entire cervical region.”), September 29 (“Evidence of misalignment is identified coupled with spasm and pain to palpation located in the lower cervical region bilaterally.”). 


� Physician’s Report, Davis C. Peterson, MD, August 26, 2004.


� Anchorage Fracture and Orthopedic Clinic, Dr. Drew Peterson, Restrictions, 8/26/04.


� Id. at 2.


� MRI Report, Providence Health System, John R. Fischer, MD, August 27, 2004.


� Patient’s History and Physical, Alaska Spine Center, 8/30/04.  This appears to be the first time Dr. Kahn performed a physical examination of Claimant’s neck.


� Procedure Note, Alaska Spine Center, 8/31/04.  


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 9/01/04.


� Physician’s Report, Davis C. Peterson, MD, September 9, 2004.


� Id. at  2.


� Letter from Dr. Peterson to Roberta Highstone, Adjuster, Harbor Adjustment, September 9, 2004.


� Chart Note, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, 9/9/04.


� Procedure Record, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, 9/23/04.


� Chart Note, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, 10/8/04.


� Procedure Report, Alaska Spine Center, Cynthia H. Kahn, MD, 10/12/04.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, October 4, 2004 (“Malposition is detected with accompanying myospasm and pain to palpation in the entire lower cervical region.”); October 7 (“The presence of subluxation is apparent with accompanying spasm and pain to palpation at the lower cervical range bilaterally.”); October 13 (“…Miss Anderson reports that she had injections which are working…A mechanical force adjustment was utilized to improve intersegmental as well as global mobility and reduce joint dysfunction in …C4-C7.”); October 15; October 18 (“The patient’s prior assessment and symptoms are unchanged…A manual osseous adjustment was delivered to lessen segmental dysfunction and improve joint mobility in …C4, C6, and C7); November 3 (“The patient’s most recent assessment and symptoms have not changed…An osseous adjustment was given to lessen segmental dysfunction and normalize intersegmental as well as segmental mobility in …C4, C6, and C7”); See also Daily Progress and Procedure Notes, November 8; November 10; November 12 (“Malalignment is evident coupled with muscular spasm and tenderness localized to the entire cervical region… A manual assisted short lever adjustment was utilized to increase intersegmental/segmental range-of-motion and resolve joint dysfunction in C2, C3, C6, and C7.”); November 15; November 17 (“Signs of joint dysfunction are noted with concomitant tense muscles of the entire middle and lower cervical regions.”); November 22 (”Malposition is detected plus muscular spasm of the entire cervical spine.”); November 24; November 29 (“Patient reports to be having a discogram on Thursday…Signs of misalignment are noted in the left lower cervical spine.  The presence of malalignment is detected in the right middle and lower cervical areas…An osseous adjustment was delivered to reduce malpositions and extend intersegmental/segmental joint biomechanics in C3 and C4.”). 


� Request for Consultation,  Davis C. Peterson, MD, 11/5/04.


� Letter from Davis C. Peterson, MD, AFOC, To Whom it May Concern, November 11, 2004.


� Procedure Note, Alaska Spine Center, 12/2/04.


� Discogram radiological report, Harold F. Cable, MD, 12/2/04.


� Office Visit Note, AA Pain Clinic, Gary Childs, DO, 12/7/04.  


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, The Healing Center, December 1, 2004 (“The treatment this session, as warranted by the examination outcomes, involves massage therapy to increase intersegmental as well as segmental range-of-motion, normalize local circulation, and promote the reduction of muscular adhesions, muscle infiltration, and musculoligamentous fibrosis in the …entire cervical area…”); December 6 (“…The presence of subluxation is apparent in the left lower cervical range…A manual adjustment was administered…C2 and C3…”); December 10 (“The apparent of joint dysfunction is apparent at the left lower cervical area…A manual adjustment…to increase joint mobility and relieve joint dysfunction in C2 and C3…entire cervical range massage therapy was given to elevate local circulation, breakup muscular adhesions, muscle infiltration, and musculoligamentous fibrosis, and restore intersegmental as well as global joint mobility.”); December 13; December 15 (“…as indicated by the objective findings, …massage therapy to stimulate local circulation, enhance…joint mobility…in the…upper and lower cervical spine…”); December 17 (“…Pain to palpation and edema are apparent at the left lower cervical area.  Spasm and pain to palpation are identified specific to the right lower cervical spine.”); December 24 (“From the palpatory examination of the cervical region…Misalignment is noted with concomitant spastic and tender musculatures localized to the lower cervical region on both sides…As necessitated by the examination outcomes, the management this day includes the manipulation and modalities…to lessen misalignments in C5 and C6.”); December 22 (“…as called for by the supporting documentation…massage therapy to normalize intersegmental as well as global joint mobility…in the …upper and middle cervical range…and head.”); December 27 (“…Signs of spastic deep paraspinal musculatures are evidence specific to the left lower cervical area.  Malalignment is identified with associated spastic musculatures overlying the right lower cervical range…A light metered force adjustment was utilized to lessen malpositions and extend articular joint mobility in C2, C3, and C5.”); January 3, 2005 (“As warranted by the clinical examination…massage therapy…entire cervical spine.”); January 7; January 10 (“…To the lower cervical range…massage therapy was given to improve intersegmental/segmental joint mobility, separate musculoligamentous adhesions, …”); January 12 (“The management today, as indicated by the examination outcomes, calls for massage therapy…in the…entire cervical area…left upper extremity, right upper extremity, and head.”); January 14 (“As warranted by the examination conclusions, this visit’s regiment includes massage therapy to enhance…mobility…in the …entire cervical spine.”); January 19 (“…A specific low force adjustment was applied to …alleviate malalignments in C2, C3, and C5-C7. Massage therapy was used on the…lower cervical spine…”); January 21 (“head”); January 24 (“…middle cervical area…”); January 26; January 28 (“…C1 and C2…”); January 31; February 4, 2005 (“…lower cervical area…”); February 7 (“…lower cervical area…”); February 9 (“The conclusions from an ebaluation of the cervical area…are as follows: The presence of misalignment is evident in the left middle and lower cervical spine.  Subluxation is located at the right middle cervical range…massaged therapy to normalize…global joint biomechanics…in…entire cervical region…”); February 23 (“Spastic, inflamed, and tender musculatures are noted specific to the left lower cervical region…An osseous adjustment was applied to improve joint mobility and lessen malpositions in C2, C3, C5, and C6.  The administration of massage therapy to improve…entire cervical region.”).  See also handwritten Chart Notes, The Healing Center, Kevin Leach, DC, August through February, February 11 (“Feels tense in neck, pain in low back”); February 16 (“Pt. in acute back pain at an ‘8’”); February 23 (“L side of neck hurts”); 


� Letter from Dr. Peterson to Drs. Kahn and Chandler, January 10, 2005; Letter from Dr. Peterson to Rick B. Delamarter, MD, January 12, 2005.


� Chart Note, Leon Chandler, MD, 1/31/05.


� bis in di’e, twice a day.  Dorland’s Illustrated Medical Dictionary, 25th Edition (1974).


� ho’ra som’ni. At bedtime.  Dorland’s Illustrated Medical Dictionary, 25th Edition (1974).


� qua’que 6 hora. Every 6 hours.  Dorland’s Illustrated Medical Dictionary, 25th Edition (1974).


� Id.


� Letter from Dr. Peterson “To Whom it May Concern,” directed to Claimant and to Harbor Adjustment Services, February 11, 2005.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, The Healing Center, March 9, 2005(“The therapy this session, as necessitated by the examination determinations, is massage therapy…in the…entire cervical spine…”); March 11 (“…Signs of misalignment are present with concomitant spasm, inflammation, tenderness located in the left middle cervical range.  The presence of misalignment is apparent with spastic musculatures in the right middle cervical region.  Evidence of joint dysfunction is detected with accompanying muscular spasm, edema, tenderness at the left lower cervical region.  Apparent malposition is evident with associated spastic musculatures overlying the right lower cervical range…A manual adjustment was performed to rectify segmental dysfunction and normalize intersegmental as well as segmental joint mobility in…C2, C3, C6, and C7…the entire cervical range massage therapy was administered…”); March 14 (“…Massage therapy was applied to the…entire cervical range…”); March 18 (“…a low force specific adjustment was applied to reduce segmental dysfunction and restore intersegmental as well as global joint biomechanics in …C2, C32, C6, and C7.”); March 23 (“A light metered force adjustment was delivered to rectify malpositions and extend intersegmental as well as global joint biomechanics in C4 through C7.  The use of massage therapy to the…entire cervical range…”); March 25 (“…Today’s Treatment…calls for massage therapy to breakup musculoligamentous adhesions, muscle infiltration, and musculoligamentous fibrosis, increase local circulation, and improve joint mobility in the…entire cervical range.”); March 30 (“…Evidence of malposition is detected with myospasm and pin to palpation overlying the entire lower cervical spine…A low force specific adjustment was delivered to alleviate joint dysfunction and extend joint biomechanics in C5, C6, and C7.  To promote the reduction of musculoligamentous adhesions, muscle infiltration, and musculoligmentous fibrosis...and improve …range of motion in the …entire cervical area, massage therapy was used.).


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 3/1/05.


� Initial Orthopedic Consultation, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, The Spine Institute at St. John’s Health Center, March 16, 2005.


� Chart Note (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC (“feeling stressed”); April 4, 2005 (“legs …neck”); April 6 (“C/C [chief complaint] cervical region feels stiff, LB feels sore”); April 8 (“cervical pain”); April 15 (cervical & lumbar pain”); June 29 (“C/C neck & shoulders are stiff”); July 6 (“neck & low back very sore”); July 8 (“C/C LB stiff, neck stiff”); Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, The Healing Center, April 1, 2005 (“Today’s Treatment…entire cervical region”); April 4; April 6 (“c/c [chief complaint] cervical region feels stiff”); April 8 (“S [subjective]: cervical pain.”);  May 9 (“neck aches”); May 20 (“stress @ work…shoulder feels very tight”); May 27 (“S[subjective]: neck”); June 8 (“C/C left arm falls asleep”); June 24 (“right arm has gone numb”); June 29 (“C/C neck & shoulders are stiff”); July 6 (“neck & low back very sore”); July 8 (“C/C LB stiff, neck stiff”); July 15 (“C/C …neck stiff”);  See Daily Progress and Procedural Notes for complaints and treatment May, June, July, 2005.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 4/1/05.


� Id.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 4/29/05.


� Eligibility Letter, May 3, 2005.


� Reemployment Plan, Forooz Sakata, July 7, 2005.


� EME Report, Holm W. Neumann, June 13, 2005 at 10.


� Id. at 11.


� Id.


� Id. at 12.


� Id. at 13.


� “Smallwood objection” means an objection to the introduction into evidence of written medical reports in place of direct testimony by a physician; See Commercial Union Insurance Co. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).  8 AAC 45.900(11).


� Employee’s Hearing Brief, January 12, 2009, at page 6.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 7/7/05.


� Emails between Harbor Adjuster Roberta Highstone and Steven Glick, July 13, 2005.  In addition to the FDA approval, the writers acknowledge:  “Pam continues to work 4 hours a day.  She continues to take large quantities of pain medications and still remain at work…Dr. Leach continues to see the EE and each therapy session has a large number of manipulations and treatment being billed.”


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 8/8/05.


� Letter from Leon H. Chandler Jr., MD to Rick Delamarter, MD, August 17, 2005.


� Operative Report, St. John’s Health Center, August 30, 2005.


� Discharge Summary, 9/3/05.


� Post Operative Chart Note, 10/10/05.  SIME binder 0605.


� Id.


� Daily Progress and Procedural Notes, Kevin M. Leach, DC, The Healing Center, November 3, 2005.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 11/3/05.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 12/1/05.


� Clinic Note, St. John’s Health Center, 12/7/05.


� Chart Note, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, Medical Director, The Spine Institute at St. John’s Health Center, 12/7/05.


� Alaska Spine Center report, 1/4/06.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, Leon Chandler, MD, 1/3/06 at 2.


� Chart Note (handwritten), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, January 27, 2006.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, Leon Chandler, MD, 2/6/06.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, Leon Chandler, MD, 2/6/06; Letter to Claimant from The Spine Institute at Saint John’s Health Center, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, January 9, 2006; Operative Report, Century City Doctors Hospital, 2/9/06.


� Chart Note, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, 2/8/06.


� Surgical pathology Report, Century City Doctors Hospital, 2/9/06.


� Chart Note, The Spine Institute at St. John’s Health Center, 2/17/06.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 4/10/06.


� Chart Note, Prescription, The Spine Institute at St. John’s Health Center, 4/5/06.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 3/7/06.


� Report of Psychiatric Evaluation, Ramzi Nassar, MD, Langdon Clinic, 4/19, 2006; Letter from Dr. Nassar to Dr. Chandler, 4/19/06; Chart Notes, Lila Berry..


� Chart Notes, Medication Chart, Langdon Clinic.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 7/27/06.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 8/24/06.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 8/31/06.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 9/7/06.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 12/4/06.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 12/28/06.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 1/9/07.


� Chart Notes, AA Pain Clinic, 1/3/06,  2/6/06,  3/7/06,  4/10/06,  5/8/06;  6/2/06; 7/31/06;  8/29/06;  9/29/06; 10/27/06;  12/07/06.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, Gary Childs, DO, 6/26/06.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, Gary Childs, DO, 8/18/06.


� Chart Notes (handwritten and typed), The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, August 3, 7, 9, 14, 22, 25, 28, 30, 2006; September 1, 6, 8, 11, 12, 15, 18, 20, 22, 25, 29, 2006; October 4, 6, 11, 13, 18, 23, 25, 27, 30, 2006;  November 3, 2006; December 4, 11, 14, 2006. For treatment for her hip pain Dr. Leach referred her for acupuncture treatments. See Chart Notes, Rachel Greenwood, L.Ac., December 6, 14, 27, 2006; January 3, 10, 31, 2007; February 2, 15, 22, 2007; March 2, 2007.


�  Chart Note, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, 8/16/06.


� To Whom it May Concern, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, Medical Director, The Spine Institute, Associate Clinical Professor, Orthopaedic Surgery, UCLA School of Medicine, September 12, 2006.


� Chart Note, AA Pain  Clinic, 9/29/06.


� Final Report, Myelo CT Scan of the Cervical Spine, Healthsouth,  10/9/06.


� Chart Note, The Spine Institute, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, Associate Clinical Professor, Orthopaedic Surgery, UCLA School of Medicine, 11/14/06.


� Chart Notes, AA Pain Clinic, 10/29/06, 12/7/06.


� Chart Note, The Spine Institute, Rick B. Delarmarter, MC, Associate Clinical Professor, Orthopaedic Surgery, UCLA School of Medicine, 2/2/07.


� Surgery Request, The Spine Institute, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, February 15, 2007.


� Procedure Report, Alaska Spine Center, February 28, 2007.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 4/13/07.


� Initial Evaluation, Tim Kavanagh, MD, 3/8/07.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 4/13/07.


� Id.


� Message Note, AA Pain Clinic, 4/22/07.


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 7/26/07.


� Chart Notes, The Healing Center, Kevin M. Leach, DC, January 5, 8, 15, 19, 22, 29, February 2, 9, 21, March 29, April 5, 12, 17, 23, 25, 2007.


� Procedure Report, Providence Alaska Medical Center, 5/7/07.


� Letter from The Alaska Bone and Joint Institute, PC, Tim Kavanagh, MD, June 21, 2007. 


� Id.


� Prescription Listing, Ramzi Nassar, MD, Langdon Clinic.


� Letter from Ramzi Nassar, MD, July 2, 2007.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 1/22/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 2/2/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 3/6/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 4/9/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 4/17/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 5/1/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 6/26/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 8/24/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 9/4/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 10/16/07.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 11/13/07.


� Chart Notes, PBMG Langdon Clinic.  


� Dr. Bald EME Report, June 9, 2007 at 8.


� EME Report, Douglas Bald, MD, June 9, 2007 at 12-13.


� Id. at 13.


� Id. at 14.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 15.  


� Id. at 9.


� Id. at 15.


� PPI Examination Report, Edward J. Barrington, DC/DABCN, August 6, 2007.


� Id. at 2-3.


� Employer’s Hearing Brief at 19, 1/13/09.


� Sleep Study Analysis, Buff Burtis, Jr. MD, Gary L. Childs, DO, 11/30/07.


� Continuous Positive Airway Pressure.  The CPAP machine relieves obstructive sleep apnea (a narrowing of the upper airway as muscles relax naturally during sleep) by delivering a stream of compressed air through a hose to a face mask, keeping the airway open so unobstructed breathing becomes possible. http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/dci/Diseases/cpap/cpap.


� Sleep Study Analysis, Buff Burtis, Jr. MD, Gary L. Childs, DO, 11/30/07Id. at 3.


� Chart Note, The Spine Institute, Kevin Robertson, PA-C, 2/7/08.


� Chart Notes, AA Pain Clinic, 2/26/08, 5/21/08, 7/17/08, 8/26/08, 11/20/08, 12/18/08,


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, 5/21/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 1/22/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 4/2/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 4/15/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 5/2/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 6/10/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 6/24/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 7/22/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 8/5/08.


� An SIME is authorized by AS 23.30.095(k), and is conducted in accordance with 8 AAC 45.092.  The SIME binders are constructed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.092(h). 


� SIME report at 26.


� Id. at 28.


� Id. 


� Id. at 29.


� Id.


� Id. at 30.


� Procedure Note, Providence Alaska Medical Center, 8/8/08.


� Procedure Note, Providence Alaska Medical Center, 10/3/08.


� Progress Note, Louis L. Kralick, MD, 9/9/08; Chart Note AA Pain Clinic, 9/17/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 8/19/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 9/16/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 9/30/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 10/28/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 11/6/08.


� Chart Note, Lila Berry, LCSW, 1/15/09.


� EME Addendum, Dr. Douglas Bald, 10/8/08.


� Dr. Bald does not appear to have been provided records or information reflecting Claimant had undergone two cervical surgeries to address her neck pain since he evaluated her for an EME in 2007.


� EME Addendum, Dr. Douglas Bald, 10/8/08.





� Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, 4/18/03.


� Id.


� Progress Report, Anchorage Spinal Care Center, Ben Cain, DC, May 30, 2003, at 1.


� Workers’ Compensation Claim, 6/24/04.


� Id.


� WCC, 7/22/03.


� Two Answers to Employee’s Applications for Benefits, July 29, 2003.


� Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board,  Payment Events screen, derived from Employer-generated Compensation Reports.


�  Id.


� WCC, 5/30/07.


�Also in May, 2008, Dr. Barrington, through his own counsel, filed a claim for payment of his fee for conducting a PPI rating examination at the request of the Claimant’s treating physician in August, 2007.  Employer filed an Answer to Dr. Barrington’s claim, admitting it was responsible for payment of the PPI rating examination, but denying responsibility for penalty, interest or attorney fees, claiming it had not received either Dr. Barrington’s bill, or his report, in a timely fashion. The record demonstrates Dr. Barrington’s bill for services was paid on November 16, 2007, through the office of Claimant’s counsel.  Claimant’s counsel seeks reimbursement for this expense.  Dr. Barrington withdrew his claim, without prejudice, on June 12, 2008.


� Answer to Workers’ Compensation Claim (WCC), June 21, 2003.


� Controversion Notice, dated 07/06/07.


� Id.


� Id.


� Amended WCC, 9/26/07.


� Answer to WCC, October 17, 2007.


� Second amended WCC, July 24, 2008.


� Answer to Amended Workers’ Compensation Claim Dated 7/24/08, August 8, 2008.


� Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board,  Payment Events screen, derived from Employer-generated Compensation Reports.


� Controversion Notice, filed 11/14/08.


� Employer’s Compensation Report filed October 23, 2008, states  TTD ceased after 7/1/007, and PPI commenced 7/2/07.


� Prehearing Conference Summary, 12/2/08.


� Bald Deposition at 34.


� Id. at 34.


� Id. at 63-64.


� Bald Deposition at 23-28.


� Id. at  30.


� Id at  29, 65.


� Id. at 32-33, 50-52.  See also letter from Patricia Zobel, Esq. to Designated Chair, January 22, 2009, stating Employer accepts compensability for and has paid the provider for Claimant’s sleep study.


� Bald Deposition at 37-39.


� Bald Deposition at  42.


� Id. at  45.


� Id. at  47.


� Id. at  49.


� Id. 


� Id. at 62-63.


� Id. at 56, 59.


� Id. at 57.


� Id. at 66-67.


� Id. at 63.


� Chandler Deposition, January 8, 2009 at 16-19, 27.


� Id. at 26.


� Id. at 15-16.


� Id. at 26.


� Id. at 12-13.


� Id. at 13.


� Id. at 20-23, 32-33, 61, 71-72.


� Chandler Deposition at 23-24; 62-64.


� Id. at 31-32.


� Id. at 34.


� Id. at 38-39.


� Id. at 68.


� Id. at 69.


� Id. at 39, 43, 70-71.


� Id. at 39, 70-71.


� Id. at 28.


� Id. at 59.


� Id. at 72.


� Nassar Deposition, January 2, 2009 at 5-6.


� Id. at 4.


� Id. at 5.


� Id.


� Id. at 7.


� Id. at 7-8.


� Id. at 8-9.


� Id. at 9-10.


� Id. at 10-11.


� Id. at 12.


� Id.


� Id. 


� Nassar Deposition, January 2, 2009, at 17-18.


� Id. at 19.


� Id. at 20-22.


� Id. at  25, 28-30.


� Letter from Dr. Nassar, July 2, 2007,“To Whom it May Concern,” “I am currently treating Ms. Pamela Anderson…for depressive disorder due to a general medical condition (chronic pain).  At this time, there has been a recent setback in her depressive symptoms.  I am currently adjusting her medications to help address that setback.  Additionally, she is continuing to attend counseling…;” See also Deposition Exhibits 1, 2 and 3, and PBMG Chart Notes 1/5/08 through 12/19/08, appended to Deposition of Dr. Ramzi Nassar.


� Id. at 27, 36-39.


� Id. at 30.


� Patient Pain Diagram, Intake Evaluation, Edward Barrington, DC, June 3, 2003.


� Employer’s Hearing Brief, January 13, 2009, at 2.


� Id. at 2.


� Id. at 12.


� Id. at 13-15.


� Employer’s Hearing Brief at 15.


� Id. at 12-13.


� Id. at 18-20.


� Id. at 20-21.


� Id. at 20-21.


� Dr. Barrington did not charge for his hearing testimony.  See letter from Michael Jensen, January 22, 2009.


� Letter from Patricia Zobel, Esq., January 21, 2009.


� Letter from Michael Jensen, Esq., January 22, 2009.


� Hearing Exhibit 1. This Exhibit was admitted without objection by the Employer with the understanding these costs remained subject to audit by Employer for reasonableness and necessity.  On April 17, 2009, Claimant submitted dunning notices from some of the providers on this spreadsheet, including Madden Medical Associates, LLC, totaling $3,078.00; Alaska Radiology Associates for $70.00; and Providence Imaging Center for $142.00.  Also included was a statement from PBMG for $137.00.


� See attachments to Affidavit of Service, Michael J. Jensen, Esq., March 24, 2009.


� Affidavit of Service, January 8, 2009.


� Affidavit of Service December 23, 2008.


� Answer to Workers’ Compensation Claim, June 10, 2008. 


� An outstanding bill and dunning notice for imaging services performed on August 30, 2005, and totaling $1,205.00, from Parkview Imaging of Santa Monica, California, was also filed with the Board on March 24, 2009. See attachments to Affidavit of Service, Michael J. Jensen, Esq., March 24, 2009.


� Letter from Patricia L. Zobel, Esq., January 21, 2009; Letter from Michael J. Jensen, Esq., January 22, 2009.


� Letter from Michael J. Jensen, Esq., April 23, 2009; See also Billing Statement and dunning notice from PBMG, 3/20/09.  


� Commercial Union Insurance Co. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).


� Employer’s Hearing Brief at 19, 1/13/09.


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Carter v. B & B Construction, Op. No. 4808, pp. 10-11 (Alaska, June 27, 2008.); Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-474 (Alaska 1991).


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).  See also, Cheeks v. Wismer, 742 P.2d 239 (Alaska 1987).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Peek  v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 5 A. Larson & L. Larson, Larson’s Workers' Compensation   Law, § 90.01 (2005).


� Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 5 A. Larsons & L. Larson, Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law, § 90.01 (2005).


� Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989); Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


� Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991) (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).  See also, Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611-612 (Alaska 1999); Miller at 1046.


�Carter v. B & B Construction, 199 P.3d 1150, 1156 (Alaska 2008); DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Deyonge at 96 (citing Wolfer at 72).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611-612 (Alaska 1999);Carter at 15; Grainger at  977.


� Black v. Universal Services, Inc., 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).


� Wollaston v. Schroeder Cutting, Inc. 42 P.3d 1065, 1066 (Alaska 2002).


� Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P. 2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984).  See also, Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d  755, 758 (Alaska 1980); Miller at 1049; Beauchamp v. Employers Liability Assurance Co., 477 P.2d 933, 996-7 (Alaska 1970).


� Koons, at 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Burgess, 623 P.2d at 317.  


� Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


� Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, Payments Screen reflects TTD benefits ending July 1, 2007, and PPI payments beginning July 2, 2007.


� AS 23.30.395(10)(2003), now AS 23.30.395(16).


� AS 23.30.185.


� Id.


� Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board, 17 Alaska 658, 665 (D. Alaska 1958) (quoting Gorman v. Atlantic Gulf & Pacific Co., 178 Md. 71, 12 A.2d 525, 529 (1940)).


� Id.


� Vetter, 524 P.2d 264, 266.


� AS 23.30.395(21)(2003), now AS 23.30.395(27).


� AS 23.30.395(9).


� Discharge Diagnoses, Davis Peterson, MD, 11/29/03.


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).


� Platt v. Sunrise Bakery, AWCB Decision No. 93-0208 (August 27, 1993).


� Letter from Dr. Nassar, July 2, 2007.


� Chart notes, AA Pain Clinic, 4/13/07 (“She continues with axial back pain due to nerve root stretch from the disc replacements.”); 7/26/07(“The patient has significant sleep problems and study today reveal[s] she has 7 out of 13 positive responses on her evaluation for sleep study.  She does need a sleep study.”); 8/23/07 (“Pain is described as constant, 2/ distribution over mid-low back, w/ burning, dull, aching, stabbing, shooting, tiring.  Worse w/ stress, sitting, standing, weather changes, coughing…Appearance:  chronically ill…Her condition appears to be worsening”); 9/21/07 (“low back pain, which radiates down her legs.  The patient states the pain is worsening…”).


� Chart Note, Leon Chandler, MD, AA Pain Clinic, 4/22/07 “I spoke with Dr. Delamarter on the phone and he feels that the patient may need to have the L5/S1 artificial disc removed and fusion done at that level to control the pain from the distraction on the nerve roots.”


� EME Report, Douglas Bald, MD, June 9, 2007 at 13.


� Id. at 15.


� Id. at 14.


� That Dr. Bald, at deposition on January 8, 2009, responded “Yes” to Employer’s counsel’s question: “At the time you saw her in ’07 and you indicated that she was medically stable, was that not just as to the treatment of the lumbar spine, but also, as to chronic pain syndrome?”  does not affect our finding Dr. Bald’s EME Report on its face failed to rebut the presumption Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain syndrome remained medically unstable on June 9, 2007. 


� We find no merit in Employer’s assertion that Dr. Chandler’s referral of Claimant for a PPI evaluation, and Dr. Barrington’s conducting a PPI evaluation, constitute implicit admissions Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder were medically stable in August, 2007. We find, based on his testimony, Dr. Chandler referred Claimant for a PPI rating because he did not perform PPI ratings, and in doing so was making no assertion of medical stability pertaining to chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder.  We find from Dr. Barrington’s PPI evaluation report and testimony, the referral from Dr. Chandler was for the sole purpose of examining and rating the physical operation of Claimant’s lumbar spine. We find from Dr. Barrington’s testimony that had he been rating for chronic pain as well, the PPI rating may have increased. We find Dr. Chandler’s referral and Dr. Barrington’s evaluation for a PPI rating for the physical operation of Claimant’s lumbar spine range of motion not such evidence upon which a reasonable mind would rely to conclude Claimant’s lumbar spine-related chronic pain and chronic pain-related mood disorder were medically stable on July 2, 2007.   


�  Dr. Bald Deposition at 63.


�  MR. JENSEN questioning.  Q:  In your report…did you reference or have available to you Dr. Nassar’s reports? A.  Who?  Q:  Nassar?  A. Spell that for me.  Q: N-a-s-s-a-r.  A. From when would that be?  Q:  He started treating her in June of 2006.  MS. ZOBEL:	Actually, I think it’s April of 2006,  April 19th.  MR. JENSEN: Q: You don’t recognize that name?  A. I don’t recognize the name…  MS ZOBEL:  He’s a psychiatrist.  A.  Oh, he is?  I don’t recall, one way or the other, whether I have reviewed any reports from Dr. Nassar.  Q.  If he’s not mentioned in your report, is that, just like Dr. Leach wasn’t mentioned, is that because either that you didn’t have the reports or you didn’t think they were pertinent?  A.  Well, the psychiatric reports, in my opinion, are not pertinent to why I was seeing her…I don’t see a name attached to those, but I do have those notes…Well, the psychiatric reports may be pertinent to patient care, they are not really pertinent to why I was seeing her.  Dr. Bald Deposition at 67.


� Dr. Bald EME Report, June 9, 2007 at 8.


� Chart Note, Leon Chandler, MD, AA Pain Clinic, 4/22/07, “I spoke with Dr. Delamarter on the phone and he feels that the patient may need to have the L5/S1 artificial disc removed and fusion done at that level to control the pain from the distraction on the nerve roots.” Chart Note, Rick B. Delamarter, MD, 2/8/06, “[the patient] may ultimately need fusion at L5-S1.”


� Chart Note, AA Pain Clinic, July 27, 2007.


� AS 23.30.122.


� Dr. Nassar letter, To  Whom it May Concern, July 2, 2007.


� Chart Notes, Lila Berry, LCSW,  March 6, 2007-October 16,  2007 (“Pain level is up…struggling in school d/t pain issues & lack of energy …Has a difficult time w/ concentration…in pain…numbness in legs..Is taking 2 incompletes, recommended pt. time school vs. full time d/t health issues, mental/emotional exhaustion…Back pain has flared up…tearful, depressed…Has been staying in bed, feeling depressed.  Has not been attending to her ADL’s [activities of daily living]-this is not typical behavior.  Does not have the stamina to attend school full-time; pattern of attempting, getting ill & depressed…Has been depressed-has been staying in bed a lot.  For the first time in her life, has let her home become messy because she has been feeling depressed…Pain in lower back is worse; has registered for school & is taking 2 courses, which is all she can take…Is worried about…endurance in class…Has been staying in bed a lot, she thinks d/t the depression…Tearful.”)


� AS 23.30.122.


� Employer’s Hearing Brief at 12.


� Employee’s Hearing Brief at 19-20.


� Dr. Bald EME Report at 13.


� Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers &  Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


� AS 23.30.122.


� Dr. Baldwin Chart Note 7/15/03; Dr. Chandler deposition at 36.


� Dr. Bald deposition at 30.


� Dr. Blackwell SIME report at  28.


� Dr. Bald EME report, June 9, 2007 at 13.


� Dr. Bald deposition at 34, 63-64.


� Employer’s Hearing Brief at  5 mistakenly alleges “In the description of her symptoms by the physical therapist on 2/3/04 there is no mention of neck symptoms.”


� For this reason we accord little significance to the testimony of Alice Thurman, that the adjuster notes from May 5, 2003 to January 24, 2004, reflect a focus on Claimant’s lumbar complaints.  Moreover, based on Ms. Thurman’s testimony, we find the adjuster notes from this period are incomplete due to a problem the adjusting company was having with the nurse case manager assigned to this claim.


� We note Dr. Blackwell acknowledged it was Drs. Cain and Leach with whom Claimant was treating for her neck symptom. SIME Report at 2-3.  


� Compare EME Report at 13 with EME report at 14.


� DeYonge v. Nana/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000)(citing Hester v. State, 817 P.2d 472, 476 n. 7).


� Id.


� Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


� Dr. Blackwell SIME  Report, February 22, 2008, at 29.


� Dr. Blackwell SIME Addendum, October 22, 2008, at 4. 


� Dr. Blackwell SIME Report, February 22, 2008, at 29.


� Id.


� Dr. Blackwell’s SIME Report, February 22, 2008 at 12.


� DeYonge at 96 (citing Hester v. State, Public Employee’s Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 n. 7).


� Physician’s Report, Davis C. Peterson, MD, September 9, 2004.


� Id.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).


� See Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,  989 P.2d 727, 731 (Alaska 1999).


� See Letter from Patricia Zobel to Designated Chair, January  21, 2009; Controversion Notice, filed 8/13/08.


� Dr. Bald EME Report, June 9, 2007 at 13 (“…further treatment is felt to be reasonable directed towards her cervical spine); Dr. Blackwell SIME Report, February 22, 2008 at  29 (“The urgent need for surgery to the cervical spine is the cord compression…”)


� See also, Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Association, 860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993); Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1192 (Alaska 1987).


� 53 P.3d 134,147 (Alaska 2002).


� Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 975 (Alaska 1986).


� See, Id., at 974; and Gertlar v. H & H Contractors, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 97-0105 (June 2, 1997).


� See Controversion Notices dated  7/6/07, 7/31/07, 8/27/07, 10/17/07, 4/4/08, 4/29/08, 8/8/08, 10/20/08, 11/12/08.


� Robert Strong v. Chugach Electric Association, AWCB Decision No. 09-0075 (April 24, 2009); Forrest Nunn v. Lowe’s Co., Inc., AWCB Decision No. 08-0241 (December 8, 2008).
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